ANNUAL
REPORT
2019 - 2020

Caring for our Communities

Copyright: Geelong Cemeteries Trust

About Geelong Cemeteries Trust
Geelong Cemeteries Trust (the Trust) was established on 1 January 1985 following amalgamation of the Geelong
Eastern Cemetery, Geelong Western Cemetery and Barrabool Hills (Highton) Cemetery. The Trust now manages
twenty areas of Crown Land within the Geelong, Bellarine, Surf Coast, Colac and Macedon Ranges regions.

The Trust was designated as a Class A Trust under the Cemeteries and Crematoria Act 2003 on 1 March 2010.
The Trust is a not-for-profit entity, governed by remunerated Trust Members appointed by the State Government
and approved by the Governor-in-Council. The Trust sets the organisation’s strategic direction, approves the annual
budget, monitors performance, ensures compliance, develops policy and engages in stakeholder communication and
management.

Page 2

GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Our Vision - To achieve excellence in the provision of quality cemetery facilities and services for our families and
communities.
Our Mission - To provide caring services for our families and communities, and maintain a respectful, sustainable
environment.
Our Purpose - The quality burial, cremation, memorial services and facilities we provide need to be consistent, of
reasonable cost and exceed the community's expectations.
Our Values – The Trust provides a wide range of services for the communities in which we operate. This places the
Trust in a unique position of trust, requiring standards of ethical behaviour that reflect community expectations. To
assist in meeting these expectations the Trust has developed an ethical framework comprising the following seven
main underpinning values:
Responsiveness
Integrity
Accountability
Respect
Environmental Responsibility
Leadership
Inclusivity

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

NATURE AND RANGE OF SERVICES PROVIDED
The Trust provides interment into graves; entombment into mausolea; interment of cremated remains; cremations;
memorialisation; cemetery records management; perpetual maintenance and community events.
The total services provided by the Trust have increased, on average, by approximately 3.5% annually over the
reported periods. Details of burials, entombments and cremations are outlined below:

Burials
Entombments
Cremations
Cremated Remains Interments
TOTAL

2015/16
970
4
1,352
490
2,816

2016/17
917
2
1,509
542
2,970

2017/18
935
11
1,638
530
3,114

2018/19
886
10
1,781
537
3,214

2019/20
901
6
2,036
480
3,423
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
The Trust provides its services to a regional population of approximately 330,000 people with the regional death rate
in 2019/20 remaining around eight deaths per thousand of population with the cremation rate increasing to 69.1%
(previously 66.5%) of funerals provided by the Trust.
The increase in the total number of cremations following the introduction of a ‘Not-Same Day’ cremation service in
September 2016 has continued in 2019/20 with ‘Not-Same Day’ cremations being approximately 80% of the total
cremations for the year. A summary of the cremation services provided since the introduction of a ‘Not-Same Day’
cremation service is detailed below.

Not Same Day
Cremation Before 10am
Cremation After 10am
TOTAL

2016/17
527
131
851
1,509

2017/18
1,219
111
308
1,638

2018/19
1,403
101
277
1,781

2019/20
1,580
101
355
2,036

GOVERNANCE & ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
The Trust reports to the Minister for Health through the Cemetery Sector Governance Support Program of the
Department of Health and Human Services.
The Trust reports to the government on their major projects and activities through an annual report containing
information about the operations and financial performance; a detailed Strategic Plan and Annual Plan and frequent
communication at an executive level regarding performance and industry issues.
Responsible Ministers
The Honourable Jenny Mikakos, Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services
The Honourable Martin Foley, Minister for Mental Health
The Honourable Luke Donnellan, Minister for Child Protection and Minister for Disability, Ageing and Carers
Trust Members
Trust members are appointed by the Governor-in-Council and there is a code of conduct for the members. Trust
members also complete a declaration of pecuniary interests each year.
As part of its commitment to effective and transparent governance, the Trust undertook a self-assessment survey in
March 2020. Details of the Trust Members who held office during the year are listed below.
Trust Member
Lynden Smith, OAM (Chair)
John Mitchell (Chair)
Sue Chisholm
Peter Mansfield, OAM
Anne Brackley, OAM
Julia (Anne) Fairbairn
Melanie Rogers
Brenda Richardson
Rieny Nieuwenhof
Geoffrey (Mark) Crouch

First Appointed
1 March 2010
1 November 2019
1 March 2010
14 August 2012
1 March 2016
1 March 2016
1 September 2017
1 September 2017
1 September 2017
1 July 2018

Appointment Completion
31 October 2019
28 February 2022
30 June 2021
31 August 2020
30 June 2021
30 June 2021
31 August 2020
31 August 2020
31 August 2020
30 June 2021

The Trust would like to acknowledge the service of Lynden Smith in his role as Trust Member and Chair for his 10
years of service and commitment to Geelong Cemeteries Trust.
John Mitchell was appointed Chair of the Trust on 1 November 2019.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Trust and Committee Meeting Attendance
Trust Member/Independent
Member
Lynden Smith, OAM (Chairman)
John Mitchell (Chairman)
Sue Chisholm
Peter Mansfield, OAM
Anne Brackley, OAM
Julia (Anne) Fairbairn
Melanie Rogers
Brenda Richardson
Rieny Nieuwenhof
Geoffrey (Mark) Crouch
Helene Bender, OAM
(independent member)
Graeme Howie
(independent member )

Trust
Meetings

Finance
Committee

Audit & Risk
Committee

Community
Advisory
Committee

4/4
7/7
9/11
10/11
11/11
11/11
9/11
11/11
9/11
11/11

4/4
8/8
9/12
11/12
12/12
12/12
10/12
12/12
11/12
12/12

1/1
3/3
4/4
4/4
4/4

2/4
3/4
3/4
4/4
-

Executive
Performance &
Remuneration
Committee
1/1
3/3
4/4
4/4
-

-

-

3/4

-

-

-

-

4/4

-

-

Trust members participate on a number of committees, which assist with executing trust responsibilities in a review
or advisory role.
The Trust may also appoint independent members from outside the organisation to provide specialist skills,
knowledge and expertise as required. Two independent members have been appointed to the Audit & Risk
Committee.
Four committees have been established with each committee chaired by a Trust member, with the exception of the
Audit & Risk Committee that is chaired by Helene Bender, and each operates under terms of reference or a charter.
Finance Committee
The Geelong Cemeteries Trust Finance Committee will assist the Geelong Cemeteries Trust in fulfilling its fiduciary
responsibilities. This Committee undertakes the supervision of:
• Financial performance and the financial reporting process, including the annual financial statements
• Preparation of the Annual Plan and Strategic Plan for presentation to the Department of Health & Human
Services
• Preparation of the Annual Budget and Five Year Financial Plan
• Matters of accountability and internal control affecting the operations of the Trust
• The effectiveness of management information systems and other systems of internal control
• The sign off of accounting policies
• The Trust’s process for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations and its own Code of Conduct and
Code of Financial Practice.
In performing its duties, the Committee will maintain effective working relationships with the Trust and senior
management. To perform his or her role effectively, each Committee member will obtain an understanding of the
detailed responsibilities of Committee membership as well as the Geelong Cemeteries Trust’s business, operations
and risks.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Audit and Risk Committee
The Geelong Cemeteries Trust Audit and Risk Committee (“the Committee”) will assist the Geelong Cemeteries Trust
in fulfilling its fiduciary responsibilities, particularly in relation to the Financial Management Act 1994. This
Committee undertakes the supervision of:
• The scope of work, performance and independence of internal audit
• The scope of work, performance and independence of the external auditor
• The scope of work, performance and independence of other reviews/audits
• The operation and implementation of the risk management framework
• Matters of internal control affecting the operations of the Trust
• The Geelong Cemeteries Trust’s process for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations and its own
Code of Conduct and Code of Financial Practice.
In performing its duties, the Committee will maintain effective working relationships with the Trust, Senior
Management, and the internal and external auditors. To perform his or her role effectively, each Committee
member will obtain an understanding of the detailed responsibilities of Committee membership as well as the
Geelong Cemeteries Trust’s business, operations and risks.
Community Advisory Committee
The purpose of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust Community Advisory Committee is to provide advice and guidance to
the Trust to assist in carrying out its community engagement responsibilities, as well as its statutory requirements as
stipulated in the Cemeteries and Crematoria Act 2003.
The objectives of the Committee are:
• To ensure that community and consumer views are considered in the planning and delivery of cemetery
trust services
• To provide advice in relation to the integration of consumer and community views at all levels of cemetery
trust operations, planning and policy development.
The Trust has two Community Advisory Committees – one in Geelong, the other in Gisborne. As determined by the
Geelong Cemeteries Trust and in accordance with the Cemeteries and Crematoria Act 2003, the Community Advisory
Committee shall comprise members whose skills and experience reflect the particular needs and interests of a broad
range of consumers and communities, including people from diverse backgrounds such as emerging communities.
All appointments made by Geelong Cemeteries Trust are for up to three years.
Executive Performance and Remuneration Committee
In accordance with the Trust Charter and the Victorian Public Sector Commission’s Policy on Executive Remuneration
for Public Entities, the Trust has established a remuneration sub-committee, the Executive Performance &
Remuneration Committee.
The Committee has specific responsibility for determining the Trust’s policy and practice for executive remuneration
and the individual remuneration packages for its executives.
The Committee will ensure that executive remuneration arrangements are consistent with the Principles and
Specifics set out in the Victorian Public Sector Commission’s Policy on Executive Remuneration for Public Entities.
The Committee will also be responsible for reviewing performance review recommendations from the CEO and
Senior Management in relation to bonus payments and providing a formal recommendation to the Trust.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
EVENTS AND COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
The Trust is committed to actively engaging with its communities. This is demonstrated in a number of ways
including a calendar of events and our support for community led events and activities that are held within our
cemeteries.
The onset of COVID-19 significantly impacted community presentations in the later part of the year with a high
number of community groups expressing interest in presentations once restrictions allow presentations to be
undertaken.
Event Calendar highlights for 2019/20:
180th Anniversary The Trust commemorated 180 years since its first burial at Geelong’s Eastern Cemetery on 5
Celebration /
September 2019. A landmark event that coincided with the opening of the third mausoleum
Official Openings designed by Harmer Architecture and the opening of the final section of the cemetery.
Living & Dying:
The Trust hosted its inaugural Living and Dying: Let’s Talk event at Portarlington on nationally
Let’s Talk
celebrated Dying To Know Day, 8 August 2019. The free event brought together the local
community along with healthcare and support service professionals to openly discuss planning
for death and dealing with grief.

History Alive
Tours
All Souls’ Day
Celebrants Forum

Funeral Directors
Forum
Community
Presentations

The Trust also hosted their second Living and Dying: Let’s Talk event at Gisborne on 24 October
2019.
The history of our cemeteries was brought to life with nearly 300 people participating in History
Alive Tours through the Geelong Eastern Cemetery and Queenscliff Cemetery. On the tours,
visitors are guided around by actors playing the roles of significant residents of the cemeteries.
All Souls’ Day is an important day on the Christian calendar commemorating family members
who have died. During the year, the Trust hosted three community All Souls’ Day masses at
Geelong Eastern Cemetery, Queenscliff Cemetery and Gisborne Cemetery.
More than 40 local celebrants attended the inaugural Celebrants Forum on 31 October 2019
(Day of the Dead). The forum aims to provide an opportunity to informally meet local
celebrants and provide an update on the Trust activities, as well as gain some feedback from
these important stakeholders.
Around 45 local funeral directors attended the annual Funeral Directors Forum on 11
November 2019. The forum aims to provide an opportunity to provide an update on the Trust’s
activities, as well as gain some feedback from these important stakeholders.
The Trust has made 6 presentations to community groups throughout the year to groups such
as Geelong Rotary Club, Grovedale & Marshall Probus Club, Ocean Grove Rotary Club, Drysdale
Rotary Club & Geelong Family History Group. The Trust also made presentations to a number
of schools within the region.

180th Anniversary Commemorative Plaque – Geelong Eastern Cemetery
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Senior Management
Darryl Thomas OAM - Chief Executive Officer
The Chief Executive Officer’s key areas of responsibility include Trust Members, Trust Staff, Burials and Cremations,
Public Relations, Maintenance and Development Works, Administration, Financial Management, Risk Management,
Forward Planning and Industry Participation.
Frank De Groot - Deputy CEO/Operations Manager
The Deputy CEO/Operations Manager’s key areas of responsibility include Outdoor Staff, Burials and Cremations,
Cemeteries and Crematorium Maintenance and Development Works, Trust Members and Administration.
Trevor Colbert FCPA - Manager – Finance & Administration
The Manager – Finance & Administration’s key areas of responsibility include IT, Finance, Indoor Staff and
Administration.
Organisational Structure

Control of New Cemeteries
At the request of the Department of Health and Human Services and the Yaugher Cemetery Trust, the Trust has
assumed management of the Yaugher Cemetery. Government Gazettal to confirm the abolishment of the Yaugher
Cemetery Trust and appointing the Trust in control of the cemetery is expected to take place in August 2020.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
KEY INITIATIVES AND PROJECTS
Major projects for 2019/20:
Geelong Memorial Park Completed construction of catering facility/event space.
& Crematorium
Portarlington Cemetery Commenced construction of a new Feng Shui burial area, including construction of
supporting roads.
Colac Cemetery
Completed construction of a new modern office building.
Geelong Memorial Park
& Crematorium
Geelong Memorial Park
& Crematorium
Geelong Memorial Park
& Crematorium
Geelong Eastern
Cemetery
Geelong Memorial Park
& Crematorium
Drysdale Cemetery
Bellarine Memorial Park
Administration
Gisborne Cemetery
Lorne Cemetery

Completed construction of the creek development for cremation memorials
Completed an upgrade of the audio visual system in the chapel and new catering
facility/event space.
Completed construction of the carpark area.
Installation of 10 additional Concrete Lined Graves
Completed an upgrade to the paving at the entrance to the Crematorium building.
Development of a Cultural Heritage Management Plan for the extension of the cemetery.
Commenced construction of the roadworks for future development
Commenced an upgrade of the mapping system.
Completed construction of a Woodland Walk area for natural burials.
Completed construction of a Forest Walk area for cremation memorials.

Geelong Memorial Park & Crematorium Catering Facility/Event Space
In recognising the changing environment, and acting on community feedback, the Trust has invested more than
$1,200,000 to complete the construction of a new catering facility/reflection space at Geelong Memorial Park &
Crematorium. The catering facility/reflection space can accommodate up to 120 people, has food preparation
facilities and public toilets.
The facility will also provide an option for a second chapel, reflection space and hold Trust, stakeholder and
community meetings and forums.

Catering Facility/Reflection Space – Geelong Memorial Park & Crematorium
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Planning for the Future
While the Trust has sufficient cemetery land to meet the burial requirements of the Geelong, Bellarine, Surf Coast,
Colac and Macedon Ranges regions for many decades, it continues to plan for the future. The Trust continues to
explore land options in both the Gisborne and Colac areas.
As detailed previously, the Trust now provides approximately 3,500 services per annum and this has been growing
consistently over a number of years with population growth and a number of additional sites. It is expected that this
number will increase further with an ageing population expected to provide a relatively significant increase in the
death rates at some stage in the future.
The twenty areas of Crown Land presently administered by the Trust are detailed below;

LGA

Area (ha.)

Approx. area
(ha.)
remaining for
future
development

Lifecycle Stage

28.6

3.8

Active-Transitional

Geelong Western Public Cemetery

8.4

Nil

Transitional-Perpetual

Barrabool Hills Cemetery

4.2

0.5

Transitional-Perpetual

Grovedale Cemetery

0.4

Nil

Perpetual

42.8

32.2

Active

Mount Duneed Cemetery

0.8

Nil

Active-Transitional

Leopold Cemetery

2.4

1.3

Active-Transitional

Drysdale Cemetery

5.7

3.6

Active

Portarlington Cemetery

2.0

0.5

Active

Flinders Memorial Park, Lara

25.8

24.3

Active

Bellarine Memorial Park, Marcus Hill

39.6

39.6

Greenfield

Winchelsea Cemetery

7.5

3.8

Active

Mount Moriac Cemetery

8.7

4.2

Active

Lorne Cemetery

2.0

0.5

Active

Colac Cemetery

8.7

2.1

Active

Beeac Cemetery

3.7

2.7

Active

Warncoort Cemetery

4.1

2.3

Active

Whoorel Cemetery, Birregurra

4.8

3.8

Active

Queenscliff Cemetery (at Point Lonsdale) (a)

5.6

1.6

Active

Gisborne Cemetery (b)

5.4

2.3

Active

211.2 Ha.
(521.8 acres)

129.1 Ha.
(319 acres)

The Trust’s Facilities
Geelong Eastern Cemetery

Colac Otway
Shire

Surf Coast
Shire

City of Greater Geelong

Geelong Memorial Park & Crematorium,
Armstrong Creek

Total
(a)

Located in the Borough of Queenscliffe.

(b)

Located in the Macedon Ranges Shire.

Active – Cemeteries that have high visitation and interments and wide range of services
Transitional – Lessening requirements for infrastructure, continued but declining interments and services, medium
visitation
Perpetual – Cemeteries with minimal space available and low visitation rates, requiring ongoing maintenance.
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ANZAC Flag Project – Colac Cemetery
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WORKFORCE INFORMATION
The Trust is committed to applying merit and equity principles when appointing staff. The selection processes ensure that applicants are assessed and evaluated fairly and
equitably on the basis of the key selection criteria and other accountabilities without discrimination. Promotion and advancement of qualified individuals is based on these
same principles, relevant to the position involved.
The Trust has introduced policies and practices that are consistent with the expected employment standards and provide for fair treatment, career opportunities and the
early resolution of workplace issues. The Trust has advised its employees on how to avoid conflicts of interest, how to respond to offers of gifts and how it deals with
misconduct.
The following table discloses the head count and full-time staff equivalent (FTE) of all active employees of the Trust, employed in the last full pay period in June 2020, and
in the last full pay period of the previous reporting period, June 2019.
June 2020
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All employees
Number
(headcount) FTE

Ongoing
Full-time
Part-time
(headcount) (headcount)

June 2019

FTE

Fixed term
and casual
Number
(headcount) FTE

All employees
Number
(headcount) FTE

Ongoing
Full-time
Part-time
(headcount) (headcount)

FTE

Fixed term
and casual
Number
(headcount)

FTE

Demographic data

Gender
Women
Men
Self-described
Age

9
32
0

8.2 6
30.3 28
0
0

3
3
0

8.2
29.5
0

0
1
0

0
0.8
0

8
32
0

7.8
29.9
0

7
28
0

1
2
0

7.8
29.1
0

0
2
0

0
0.8
0

15-24
25-34
35-44
45-54
55-64
65+

2
9
6
9
15
0

2
8.6
5.7
8.8
13.4
0

0
1
1
1
3
0

2
8.6
5.7
8.8
12.6
0

0
0
0
0
1
0

0
0
0
0
0.8
0

2
8
8
11
10
1

1.4
8
7.5
11
8.8
1

1
8
6
11
8
1

0
0
2
0
1
0

1
8
7.5
11
8.4
1

1
0
0
0
0
0

0.4
0
0
0
0.4
0

2
8
5
8
11
0

Labour Category
Indoor Staff
Outdoor Staff
Executive Staff
Total

YTD FTE
9.2
25.3
4
38.5

GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
SERVICE MILESTONES
The following Trust employees have been acknowledged for their significant service to the organisation.
15 years’ service

20 years’ service

25 years’ service

30 years’ service

35 years’ service

• Clayton Burn

• Richard Setchell

• Stuart Brayshaw

• Shane Cottee

• Darryl Thomas, OAM

• Jason Lyle

• Michael Suhan

• Michael Course

• Frank De Groot

• Dale Murphy

• Paul France

EXECUTIVE OFFICER DATA
The following table discloses the annualised total salary for senior employees of the Trust, categorised by
classification. The salaries reported below are for the full financial year, at a 1-FTE rate, and excludes
superannuation.
Income band (salary)
$180,000 – $199,999
$200,000 – $219,999
$260,000 - $279,999
Total

2019/20
2

2018/19
2
1

1
3

3

For a public body, an executive officer is defined as an executive under Part 3 of the Public Administration Act
2004 or a person to whom the Victorian Government’s Policy on Executive Remuneration in Public entities
applies. All figures reflect employment levels as at the last full pay period in June of the current and
corresponding previous reporting year.
The definition of an Executive Officer (EO) does not include a statutory office holder or an Accountable Officer.
The following tables disclose the EO’s of the Trust for 30 June 2020:
• Table 1 discloses the total numbers of EOs for the Trust, broken down by gender;
• Table 1 also discloses the variations, denoted by ‘var.’, between the current and previous reporting
periods; and
• Table 2 provides a reconciliation of executive numbers presented between the report of operations and
Notes 8.2 ‘Responsible Persons’ and 8.3 ‘Executive Officers’ in the financial statements.
Table 1: Total number of EO’s for the Trust, broken down by gender.

Class
Accountable Officer
Executives
Total

No.
1
2
3

All
Var.
0
0
0

No.
0
0
0

Women
Var.
0
0
0

No.
1
2
3

Men
Var.
0
0
0

Self-described
No.
Var.
0
0
0
0
0
0

The number of executives in the report of operations is based on the number of executive positions that are
occupied at the end of the financial year. Note 8.3 in the financial statements lists the actual number of EO’s and
the total remuneration paid to EO’s over the course of the reporting period. The financial statements note does
not include the Accountable Officer, nor does it distinguish between executive levels or disclose separations.
Separations are executives who have left the Trust during the relevant reporting period. To assist readers, these
two disclosures are reconciled below.
Table 2: Reconciliation of executive numbers
Executives (financial statement Note 8.3)
Accountable Officer (Secretary) (Note 8.2)
Total executive numbers at 30 June
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2019/20
2
1
3

2018/19
2
1
3

GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
EMPLOYMENT & CONDUCT PRINCIPLES
The Trust has formally approved a Code of Conduct Charter/Guidelines, which outlines the expected conduct and
behavior of a Trust Member and staff of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust. As staff are required to provide services
for the communities in which we operate, this places them in a unique position of trust, requiring standards of
ethical behaviour that reflect community expectations.
To assist staff to meet these expectations, an ethical framework has been developed, comprising the Trust’s seven
main underpinning values detailed earlier.
The Code of Conduct outlines what these values mean for employees and the values they should demonstrate
whilst employed by the Trust.
In addition to the values outlined above, Trust Members and staff are to be aware of and have an understanding
of the following values: confidential information, compliance with Australian laws, care and diligence, acceptable
behaviour, improper use of information and conflicts of interest.
These values are generally in line with the Public Sector Values, as developed and published by the Victorian Public
Sector Commission.
The cemetery trust has 38.5 FTE staff working a total of 77,129.8 hours. There were zero incidents of occupational
violence reported and one incident which led to a WorkCover claim.
Occupational violence statistics

2019/20

2018/19

1. WorkCover accepted claims with an occupational violence cause per 100 FTE

0

0

2. Number of accepted WorkCover claims with lost time injury with an
occupational violence cause per 1,000,000 hours worked.

0

0

3. Number of occupational violence incidents reported

0

0

4. Number of occupational violence incidents reported per 100 FTE

0

0

5. Percentage of occupational violence incidents resulting in a staff injury, illness
or condition

0%

0%

LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT
The Trust is committed to providing high quality services to our community. To support the achievement of this
objective we recognise the importance of staff training and development, and to providing a safe work
environment.
Like our Community Presentations, the onset of COVID-19 significantly impacted our ability to provide staff
training and development in the latter part of the year. The Trust is committed to providing staff training and
development to all staff once restrictions allow it to be undertaken.
Staff Training & Development
Performance management
Occupational health & safety
Emotional intelligence
Workplace relations
Mental health
Licences & tickets
Other
Total
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2019/20

154
11
160
45
88
458

2018/19
20
284
56
6
58
36
80
540

GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH & SAFETY
The Trust recognises that the health and safety of its employees and its contractors is the shared responsibility of
all parties involved. The Trust has an active Occupational Health & Safety Committee comprising representatives
from management as well as indoor and outdoor staff.
The Trust has a duty to provide and maintain, so far as is practicable, a working environment that is safe and
without risks to health and includes:
•
•
•
•
•

providing and maintaining safe plant and systems of work;
making and monitoring arrangements for the safe use, handling, storage and transport of plant and
substances;
maintaining the workplace in a safe and healthy condition;
providing adequate facilities to protect the welfare of all employees; and
providing information, training and supervision for all employees enabling them to work in a safe and
healthy manner.

The CEO is responsible for the implementation and monitoring of this policy. In fulfilling the objectives of this
policy, management is committed to regular consultation with employees to ensure that the policy operates
effectively, and that health and safety issues are regularly reviewed.
Occupational health & safety statistics

2019/20

2018/19

2017/18

2016/17

1. Number of reported hazards/incidents for the year

10

11

12

6

2. Number of ‘lost time’ standard claims for the year

1

1

0

1

3. Average cost per claim for the year (includes
payments to date and an estimate of outstanding
claim costs as advised by Worksafe)

$0

$0

$0

$16,109

Lorne Cemetery
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STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE
The Trust remains in a strong financial position. In delivering on the objectives of our strategic plan, we exercise
financial responsibility and continue to invest in the development of new infrastructure, planning and
development of our Greenfield site at Bellarine Memorial Park and investments to grow our perpetual
maintenance reserve. At the same time, the Trust is undertaking significant work to ensure our growth is
sustainable.
The Trust’s financial position continues to show strong growth with an operating surplus of $1,181,091. The
Comprehensive Surplus for the year was $1,037,592 as a result in movements in Other Financial Assets.
OPERATING STATEMENT
The income from cemetery operations for the year was $8,917,297 as compared to $6,987,977 in 2018/19. The
significant increase in revenue is attributed to increases in right of interment sales (53%), cremations fee (17%),
interment fees (6%), memorial fees (26%) and government grants for the year.
Cost of sales for the year were $366,051, being a significant increase on the previous year due to there being a
greater than expected demand for Mausoleum crypts throughout the year. This increase is offset by the
significant increase in right of interment sales.
Total operating expenses for the year were $7,736,206 with employee expenses of $4,098,060 being consistent
with previous years and a reflection of our commitment to staff and to the delivery of services to the high
standards expected by our communities. Maintenance and operating costs of $1,684,538 ensures the presentation
of our cemeteries continues to meet community expectations. The Trust will also contribute $241,999 to the state
government via the cemetery levy this financial year.
Investment income of $290,054 for the year, which was down on the previous year. The decline is associated with
the decline in investment interest rates and the reduction in the investment portfolio to fund our significant
development works program throughout the year. Our investment strategy continues to take a long-term view
and we manage risk through a cautious risk appetite.
BALANCE SHEET
We have continued to plan for future community needs with significant investment in property, plant and
equipment for the year resulting in a $575,779 increase in the value of our non-current assets, which consequently
impacted the investment portfolio value.
Total liabilities increased by $469,916 with more than 80% of the increase being associated with an increase in
prepaid income and the provision for employee benefits.
The perpetual maintenance reserve increased to $5,843,541 with a $450,000 contribution this financial year.
A summary of the financial results for the year (including the operating result), from annual financial statements,
with comparative results for the preceding four financial years, is outlined in the table below.
2019/20

2018/19

2017/18

2016/17

2015/16

$

$

$

$

$

8,917,297

6,987,977

7,860,029

6,652,201

6,475,841

366,051

177,837

310,277

119,617

157,226

Total expenses

7,736,206

6,838,644

6,631,049

5,891,817

5,766,784

Operating Result

1,181,091

149,333

1,228,980

760,384

709,057

Other operating flows included in
the Net Result for the Year

(143,499)

132,558

55,292

5,406,054

(19,095)

31,915,253

30,382,253

29,262,892

27,511,347

20,609,326

8,208,655

7,713,247

6,875,777

6,448,688

5,713,105

23,706,598

22,669,006

22,387,115

21,062,659

14,896,221

3,236,543

2,555,452

2,293,343

1,328,379

937,495

23,706,598

22,669,006

22,387,115

21,062,659

14,896,221

Total revenue
Cost of sales

Total Assets
Total Liabilities
Net Assets
Accumulated Funds Surplus
Total Equity
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The Trust also reported on a number of Key Performance Indicators during the year. Key Performance Indicators
monitored are detailed below.
2019/20
Target
0.00

2019/20
Actual
13.57

2018/19
Actual
13.98

2017/18
Actual
13.98

2016/17
Actual
N/A

8.10%

15.54%

10.11%

20.95%

14.40%

Surplus/Employee (FTE)

$15,111

$38,153

$19,515

$45,480

$27,361

Unit Cost per Cremation

$351.37

$295.51

$237.75

$213.54

$214.63

Unit Cost per Burial

$814.73

$789.10

$818.71

$772.44

$810.77

Capital Expenditure/Depreciation

2.43

3.02

4.17

3.62

2.08

Working Capital Ratio
% of Reserves & Pre-Paid Liabilities Funded by
Investments
Cash Flow (Operating)/Revenue

0.94

1.01

0.99

0.99

1.05

82.06%

84.54%

87.16%

97.09%

101.71%

18.44%

23.65%

19.41%

28.76%

21.46%

1,650

2,036

1,781

1,638

1,509

920

927

896

946

919

64.20%

69.16%

66.46%

63.39%

62.15%

% of Cremations using Chapel (Local FD only)

23%

22.36%

22.87%

20.88%

24.52%

% of Cremations memorialised

35%

32.03%

33.56%

34.57%

34.26%

39.00

29.05

32.68

39.00

40.26

Indicator
Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR)
Operating Surplus/Revenue

Number of Cremations
Number of Burials/Entombments
Cremations to Total Funerals

Average Gas Used per Cremation (Litres)

The Operating Surplus as a percentage of Revenue and Surplus per Employee was well above target due to
increased revenue detailed previously. Cremation unit costs are lower than expected with increased numbers of
not same day cremations providing the opportunity to reduce costs through improved operating procedures and
more efficient cremators. Burial unit costs are lower than expected with slightly increased numbers and a higher
portion of the burials being undertaken in the Geelong and Bellarine regions. While higher than targeted, the
Trust’s Liabilities and Reserves are not fully funded due to the high level of development works undertaken in
2019/20. The Trust’s recently approved 5 Year Financial Plan forecasts that full funding of the Trust’s Liabilities
and Reserves will be achieved in the 2024/25 financial year.

Leaf Sculpture – Gisborne Cemetery
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CAPITAL PROJECTS/ASSET INVESTMENT PROGRAMS
During the year, the Trust commenced/completed the following capital projects with a total estimated investment
of $50,000 or greater. The details related to these projects are reported below.
Table 1: Capital projects during the financial year ended 30 June 2020

Project Name
Catering Facility/Reflection Space –
Geelong Memorial Park & Crematorium
Concrete Lined Graves – Geelong Eastern
Cemetery
Fung Shui Burial Area – Portarlington
Cemetery
Construction of carpark area – Geelong
Memorial Park & Crematorium
Road construction to support new Feng
Shui burial area – Portarlington Cemetery
Construction of New Office Building –
Colac Cemetery
Upgrade of audio visual system – Geelong
Memorial Park & Crematorium
Construction of creek development for
cremation memorials – Geelong
Memorial Park & Crematorium

Actual/
Expected
Original Expected completion
completion date date
March 2020
May 2020

2019/20
expenditure
(excl. GST)
$907,559

Future
expenditure
(exl. GST)
$30,000

March 2020

May 2020

$50,088

Nil

November 2020

November 2020 $66,009

$250,000

March 2020

February 2020

$56,033

Nil

March 2020

March 2020

$82,662

Nil

June 2019

August 2019

$77,395

Nil

February 2020

June 2020

$59,453

Nil

December 2019

December 2019 $74,005

Nil

OTHER DISCLOSURES
CONSULTANCY EXPENDITURE
During the financial year, the Trust engaged a total of 7 consultants where the total fees payable were less than
$10,000, with a total expenditure of $47,278 (excluding GST). The following table details where expenditure on a
consultant exceeded $10,000.

Consultant
Unearthed
Heritage
Australia Pty
Ltd
Crowe
Passionfolk

Simon
Anderson
Consultants

Purpose of
consultancy

Total
approved Expenditure
project fee 2019-20
(excl. GST) (excl. GST)

Future
expenditure
(excl. GST)

Start date

End date

Cultural Heritage
Management Plan –
Drysdale Cemetery

July 2019

February
2020

$50,000

$39,014

Nil

VDPSS Security Risk
Profile Assessment
Marketing &
Advertising
Consultancy
Masterplan
development and
mapping

April 2020

June 2020 $16,000

$16,000

Nil

July 2019

June 2020 $55,700

$57,022

Ongoing

July 2019

June 2020 $24,200

$18,400

Ongoing
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Information and communication technology expenditure
For the 2019/20 reporting period, the Trust had a total ICT expenditure of $160,323, with the details shown
below.
Business As Usual (BAU) ICT
expenditure
Total
$105,373

Non-Business As Usual (non-BAU) ICT expenditure
Operational
Capital
Total (a + b)
expenditure (a)
expenditure (b)
$54,950
$25,850
$29,100

ICT expenditure refers to the Trust’s costs in providing business enabling ICT services within the current
reporting period. It comprises Business As Usual (BAU) ICT expenditure and Non-Business As Usual (Non-BAU)
ICT expenditure. Non-BAU ICT expenditure relates to extending or enhancing the Trust’s current ICT
capabilities. BAU ICT expenditure is all remaining ICT expenditure, which primarily relates to ongoing activities
to operate and maintain the current ICT capability.
SOCIAL PROCUREMENT PERFORMANCE
Geelong Cemeteries Trust Social Procurement Policy.
The Trust is committed to advancing social and sustainable objectives through procurement practices as outlined in
the Social Procurement Framework (SPF). The Trust currently undertakes some Social Procurement purchasing and
will look to expand the number of suppliers, and purchases, as detailed in our Social Procurement Strategy. The Trust
will also partner with G21 and local councils (Geelong, Surf Coast, Colac-Otway, Queenscliffe and Macedon Ranges),
where possible, to achieve the best possible social procurement outcomes.
The SPF aims to ensure that value-for-money considerations are not solely focused on price but encompass
opportunities to deliver social and sustainable outcomes that benefit the Victorian community.
The SPF has 10 social and sustainable objectives, including:
Social procurement objectives:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

opportunities for Victorian Aboriginal people;
opportunities for Victorians with disability;
women’s equality and safety;
opportunities for disadvantaged Victorians;
supporting safe and fair workplaces;
sustainable Victorian social enterprise and Aboriginal business sectors; and
sustainable Victorian regions.

Sustainable procurement objectives:
• environmentally sustainable outputs;
• environmentally sustainable business practices; and
• implementation of climate change policy objectives.
Social Procurement Activities & Commitments
Overall Social Procurement Activities
Number of Social Benefit Suppliers engaged during the reporting period
Total amount spent with social benefit suppliers during the reporting period
Social Procurement Commitments
Total number of suppliers engaged, which are not social benefit suppliers, that have
made social procurement commitments in their procurement contracts with the
Victorian Government
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE
Geelong Cemeteries Trust Environmental Responsibility Statement.
The Trust administers 20 sites across the Greater Geelong, Queenscliff, Surf Coast, Colac Otway and Macedon Ranges
region.
The Trust understands that, as all cemeteries that we administer are on Crown Land, maintained in perpetuity and an
integral part of our community, decisions that are made today, will affect the community’s assets into the future, and
the long-term success of the Trust depends on ensuring that all services are performed in such a way to reduce any
negative impact on the environment. The Trust strives to work closely with our community and Local and State
Government to ensure that responsible development of the cemeteries we administer is carried out, taking into
consideration the ecological impact, but also considering the long term land requirements for burials and memorials,
as well as seek to reduce, reuse and recycle where ever possible and work continuously on reducing our greenhouse
gas emissions and carbon footprint.
Major Achievements
Major achievements for the 2019/20 year:
The Trust takes part in a “Recycling of Metals Following Cremation”, with 1,033kg of metals, as well as 1,035kg of old
bronze plaques that have been upgraded by families, collected and recycled in 2019/20. All funds raised from the
program are returned to charities nominated by the Trust with approximately $8,296 being distributed by the Trust
during reporting period.
Completion of the natural forest walk at Lorne Cemetery and Bushlands Walk at Gisborne Cemetery now provide
additional burial and memorial space in a natural setting, while ensuring the value of the native vegetation is
retained, alongside the existing natural burial areas at Queenscliff and Leopold Cemeteries.
Two 30KW Solar PV Systems have been installed at Geelong Memorial Park & Crematorium and Geelong Eastern
Cemetery with an environmental saving, since installation, of 66.6 Tonnes of CO2, the equivalent of approximately
1,708 trees or 444,105 kilometres travelled.
Six rainwater tanks continue to be used at various properties to harvest and store rainwater and drip-feeding
irrigation tubing is now used across Trust sites to water roses.
The Trust recycles all paper, plastic and printer cartridges from within the Administration Office and supplies a local
primary school with cardboard to reuse in their art program. Plastic nameplates from coffins after cremation, as well
as decommissioned cremated remains containers, are also recycled.
Organically manufactured sprays are utilised to control Aphids and Black Spot on roses, plus Sooty Mould and Scale
on ornamental trees and shrubs. Using these organic sprays eliminates any potential chemical risk to staff and the
public when controlling fungi and pests in rose gardens and ornamental gardens, as well as only controlling targeted
insects and retaining beneficial insects within our environment. Trust staff continue trialling organic herbicide sprays
with mixed results.
All uncontaminated green waste is chipped for utilisation as garden mulch for Trust landscape projects. All gardens
and young trees are mulched throughout Trust properties. Over 8,000m3 of mulch has been produced by the
removal and chipping of trees at Bellarine Memorial Park.
LED lights have been installed at the Crematorium, Geelong Memorial Park sheds and Administration Office.
Weed management is occurring in native vegetation areas at Leopold, Queenscliff, Lorne and Gisborne Cemeteries.
Pest animal mitigation occurs as needed, with Geelong Eastern and Mt Moriac Cemeteries being current "hot spots".
The Trust commissioned a comprehensive assessment of the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions accountable to the
Trust for the 2018/2019 financial year, measuring the carbon footprint of Trust operations. The Trust’s emissions
recorded were around 1% of the mandatory reporting threshold, with 422 tonnes CO2E under the National
Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 (NGER Act) or 654.1 tonnes CO2E under the GHG Protocol Standards.
The CO2E generators being detailed below.
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Major achievements for the 2019/20 year:
The Trust also commissioned a comprehensive study to compare the greenhouse gas emissions (GHG emissions) on
per cremation and per burial basis. The comparison of the different activities attributable to cremations and burials
showed that the life cycle GHG emissions per cremation were determined to be 0.6 tCO2-e; the GHG life cycle
emissions per burial were 1.3 tCO2-e (this includes the embodied emissions from the body, clothing and casket).
When the individual direct contributors to GHG emissions for the cremation and burial processes are compared (i.e.
excluding embodied emissions from the body, clothing and casket), construction and maintenance of living
memorials is the largest contributor to cremation emissions at 52%, followed by natural gas used in the crematorium
at 15%. For burials, procurement and installation of headstones and memorials is the highest contributor to GHG
emissions at 52%, followed by general repairs and maintenance at 12%. Due to the maintenance requirements for a
burial site over the years and installation of headstones and memorials, emissions per burial are higher than
emissions per cremation.
The Trust also provides options for shrouded cremations where environmentally minded community members may
choose the option of not using a coffin when cremating.
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Freedom of Information Act 1982.
The Act allows the public a right of access to documents held by the Trust. The purpose of the Act is to extend,
as far as possible, the right of the community to access information held by government departments, local
councils, Ministers and other bodies subject to the Act.
An applicant has a right to apply for access to documents held by the Trust. This comprises documents both
created by the Trust or supplied to the Trust by an external organisation or individual, and may also include
maps, films, microfiche, photographs, computer printouts, computer discs, tape recordings and videotapes.
The Act allows the Trust to refuse access, either fully or partially, to certain documents or information.
Examples of documents that may not be accessed include: some internal working documents; law enforcement
documents; documents covered by legal professional privilege, such as legal advice; personal information about
other people; and information provided to the Trust in-confidence.
Access to documents can be obtained through a written request to the Trust’s Freedom of Information Officer
as detailed in s17 of the Freedom of Information Act 1982.
When making a FOI request, applicants should ensure requests are in writing, and clearly identify what types of
material/documents are being sought. An application fee of $28.40 applies. Access charges may also be payable
if the document pool is large, and the search for material, time consuming.
Requests for documents in the possession of the Trust should be addressed to:
Freedom of Information Officer
Geelong Cemeteries Trust
141 Ormond Road
Geelong East VIC 3219
Email: info@gct.net.au
There were no FOI requests received during the financial year.
Further information regarding the operation and scope of FOI can be obtained from the Act; regulations made
under the Act; and www.foi.vic.gov.au .
Building Act 1993
The Trust complies with the requirements of the Building Act 1993 and has appropriate measures in place to
ensure compliance. These measures include building condition inspections/assessments, fire safety audits and a
routine building maintenance program.
Competitive Neutrality Policy Victoria
Competitive neutrality requires government organisations to ensure where services compete, or potentially
compete, with the private sector any advantage arising solely from their government ownership be removed if it is
not in the public interest. Competitive neutrality policy supports fair competition between public and private
businesses and provides government organisations with a tool to enhance decisions on resource allocation. This
policy does not override other policy objectives of government and focuses on efficiency in the provision of
service.
The Trust has implemented and complies with the National Competition Policy, including compliance with the
requirements of the policy statement, Competitive Neutrality Policy Victoria and any subsequent reforms.
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Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012
The Public Interest Disclosure Act 2012 encourages and assists people in making disclosures of improper conduct
by public officers and public bodies. The Act provides protection to people who make disclosures in accordance
with the Act and establishes a system for the matters disclosed to be investigated, and rectifying action to be
taken.
The Trust does not tolerate improper conduct by employees, or the taking of reprisals against those who come
forward to disclose such conduct. It is committed to ensuring transparency and accountability in its administrative
and management practices and supports the making of disclosures that reveal corrupt conduct, conduct involving
a substantial mismanagement of public resources, or conduct involving a substantial risk to public health and
safety or the environment.
The Trust will take all reasonable steps to protect people who make such disclosures from any detrimental action
in reprisal for making the disclosure. It will also afford natural justice to the person who is the subject of the
disclosure to the extent it is legally possible.
Where an employee of the Trust believes in good faith and on reasonable grounds that any other employee,
volunteer, or contractor has breached general law, Trust policy, or generally recognised principles of ethics, that
employee must report their concern to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

their supervisor: or, if they feel that their supervisor may be complicit in the breach,
the CEO: or, if they feel that the CEO may be complicit in the breach,
the Chair of either the Trust or the Audit and Risk Committee, or
the Trust’s nominated Whistleblower Protection Officer, or
the Cemetery Sector Governance Support Program, DHHS, or
the Victorian Ombudsman, or
the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC), or (where a breach of general law is
alleged)
the duly constituted legal authorities responsible for the enforcement of the law in the relevant area.

The Whistleblower Policy outlines the system for reporting disclosures of improper conduct or detrimental action
by the Trust or any of its employees and/or officers. Staff can access these procedures through the Policy
Manuals distributed throughout the sites.
Disclosures under the Public Interest Disclosure Act 2012

The number of disclosures made by an individual to the Trust and notified to the
Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission
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Local Jobs Act 2003
The Trust is required to comply with the Local Jobs Act 2003. There were no contracts awarded during the year to
which the Act applied.
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION AVAILABLE ON REQUEST
In compliance with the requirements of the Standing Directions of the Assistant Treasurer, details in respect of the
items listed below have been retained by The Trust and are available on request, subject to the provisions of the
Freedom of Information Act 1982.
•

a statement that declarations of pecuniary interests have been duly completed by all relevant officers;

•

details of shares held by a senior officer as nominee or held beneficially in a statutory authority or
subsidiary;

•

details of publications produced by the Trust about itself, and how these can be obtained;

•

details of changes in prices, fees and charges charged by the Trust;

•

details of any major external reviews carried out;

•

details of major research and development activities undertaken by the Trust;

•

details of overseas visits undertaken including a summary of the objectives and outcomes of each visit;

•

details of major promotional , public relations and marketing activities undertaken by the Trust to develop
community awareness of the Trust and its services;

•

details of assessments and measures undertaken to improve the occupational health and safety of
employees; and

•

a general statement on industrial relations with the Trust and details of time lost through industrial
accidents and disputes.

The information is available on request from:
Mr Trevor Colbert
Manager – Finance & Administration
Phone: 03 5249 3939
Email: info@gct.net.au

Page 24

Disclosure index
The annual report of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian legislation.
This index has been prepared to facilitate identification of the Trust’s compliance with statutory disclosure
requirements.
RO – Report of Operations
FS – Financial Statements
Legislation
Requirement
Ministerial Directions & Financial Reporting Directions
Report of operations
Charter and purpose
FRD 22H
Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers
FRD 22H
Purpose, functions, powers and duties
FRD 22H
Nature and range of services provided
FRD 22H
Key initiatives and projects
Management and structure
FRD 22H
Organisational structure
Financial and other information
FRD 10A
Disclosure index
FRD 11A
Disclosure of ex-gratia expenses
FRD 21C
Responsible Person and Executive Officer disclosures
FRD 22H
Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982
FRD 22H
Application and operation of the Public Interest Disclosure Act 2012
FRD 22H
Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building
Act 1993
FRD 22H
Details of consultancies over $10,000
FRD 22H
Details of consultancies under $10,000
FRD 22H
Employment and conduct principles
FRD 22H
Information and Communication Technology Expenditure
FRD 22H
Major changes or factors affecting performance
FRD 22H
Occupational health and safety policy
FRD 22H
Operational and budgetary objectives and performance against objectives
FRD 22H
Significant changes in financial position during the year
FRD 22H
Subsequent events
FRD 22H
Summary of the financial results for the year
FRD 22H
Additional information available on request
FRD 22H
Workforce data disclosures
FRD 29C
FRD 25C
Victorian Industry Participation Policy disclosures
FRD 110A
Cash Flow Statement
FRD 112D
Defined Benefit Superannuation Obligations
SD 5.2.3
Declaration in report of operations
SD 5.1.2.2
Financial Management Compliance Attestation
Other requirements under Standing Directions 5.2
SD 5.2.2
Declaration in financial statements
SD 5.2.1(a)
Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other authoritative
pronouncements
SD 5.2.1(a)
Compliance with Ministerial Directions
Legislation
Freedom of Information Act 1982
Public Interest Disclosure Act 2012
Local Jobs Act 2003
Building Act 1993
Financial Management Act 1994
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Page reference

RO – Page 2
RO – Page 2
RO – Page 3
RO – Page 9
RO – Page 8
RO – Page 27
FS – Page 45
FS – Page 42
RO – Page 22
RO – Page 23
RO – Page 22
RO – Page 18
RO – Page 18
RO – Page 14
RO – Page 19
RO – Page 16
RO – Page 15
RO – Page 16
RO – Page 16
FO – Page 46
RO – Page 16
RO – Page 24
RO – Page 12
RO – Page 24
FS – Page 5
FS – Page 20
RO – Page 1
RO – Page 25
FS – Page 1
FS – Page 1 & 7
FS – Page 1 & 7
RO – Page 22
RO – Page 23
RO – Page 24
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED
30 JUNE 2020

GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
COMPREHENSIVE OPERATING STATEMENT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Note

Revenue
Cemetery Operations Income
Cost of Sales

Investment Income
Other Income

8,445,853
( 366,051)
8,079,802

6,494,804
( 177,837)
6,316,967

2.1(a)(ii)
2.1(a)(iii)

290,054
181,390

382,624
110,549

8,551,246

6,810,140

( 4,098,060)
( 241,999)
( 587,326)
( 1,684,538)
( 15,300)
( 742,932)

( 3,715,645)
( 202,048)
( 618,362)
( 1,385,331)
( 14,900)
( 724,521)

( 7,370,155)

( 6,660,807)

3.1(c)
3.1(b)
3.1(d)
3.1(e)
8.5
4.4(g)

Total Expenses
Net Result for the Year

2019
$

2.1(a)(i)
3.1(a)

Total Revenue
Expenses
Employee Expenses
Cemetery Levy
Administrative Costs
Maintenance and Operating Costs
Audit Fees - VAGO
Depreciation

2020
$

1,181,091

149,333

( 143,499)

132,558

Total Other Comprehensive Income

( 143,499)

132,558

Comprehensive Result for the Year

1,037,592

281,891

Other Comprehensive Income
Items that will not be reclassified to net result
Net fair value gains/(losses) on Other Financial Assets

The Comprehensive Operating Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 30 JUNE 2020
Note

2020
$

2019
$

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Inventories
Other current assets
Investments and other financial assets
Total Current Assets

4.1
5.1
4.3
5.2
4.2

5,023,658
1,231,433
137,659
1,140
283,311
6,677,201

4,186,356
853,306
82,770
97,548
500,000
5,719,980

Non-Current Assets
Investments and other financial assets
Receivables
Inventories
Land - infrastructure
Infrastructure works
Buildings and improvements
Plant and equipment
Total Non-Current Assets

4.2
5.1
4.3
4.4(a)
4.4(a)
4.4(a)
4.4(a)

4,961,668
2,316,956
720,150
5,533,840
9,731,965
1,973,473
25,238,052

5,188,477
9,451
2,347,707
720,150
5,483,429
8,904,483
2,008,576
24,662,273

31,915,253

30,382,253

Total Assets
Current Liabilities
Payables
Provision for employee benefits
Unearned income
Other provisions
Prepaid income
Total Current Liabilities

5.3
3.2
5.4
5.5
5.6

706,124
985,843
5,741,152
228,001
475,514
8,136,634

816,166
879,727
5,457,391
292,994
220,440
7,666,718

Non-Current Liabilities
Provision for employee benefits
Total Non-Current Liabilities

3.2

72,021
72,021

46,529
46,529

8,208,655

7,713,247

Net Assets

23,706,598

22,669,006

Equity
Contributed capital
Accumulated surplus
Physical asset revaluation surplus
Investments and other financial assets revaluation surplus
Perpetual maintenance reserve
Other reserves
Total Equity

7,092,840
3,236,543
7,238,440
51,694
5,843,541
243,540
23,706,598

7,092,840
2,555,452
7,238,440
195,193
5,393,541
193,540
22,669,006

Total Liabilities

Commitments for expenditure
Contingent assets and Contingent liabilities

4.4(f)
7.2

6.1
7.2

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
Property, Available for Investments and
Perpetual
Plant &
Sale Other Financial Maintenance
Equipment Investments
Assets
Reserve
Revaluation Revaluation
Revaluation
Surplus
Surplus
Surplus
Note
Balance at 1 July 2018

Page 4

Net result for the year
Opening Balance Adjustment on adoption
of AASB 9
Other comprehensive income for the year
Transfer to/(from) accumulated surplus
Balance at 30 June 2019
Net result for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year
Transfer to/(from) accumulated surplus
Balance at 30 June 2020

$

$

7,238,440

62,635

(62,635)
-

7,238,440

-

-

7,238,440

-

Other Contributed Accumulated
Reserves
capital
surplus/
(deficit)

$

$

$

$

4,993,541

706,316

7,092,840

2,293,343

22,387,115

149,333

149,333

112,776

132,558
-

2,555,452

22,669,006

1,181,091
(500,000)

1,181,091
(143,499)
-

3,236,543

23,706,598

62,635
132,558

195,193

400,000

(512,776)

5,393,541

193,540

7,092,840

(143,499)

-

51,694

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Total

450,000

50,000

5,843,541

243,540

7,092,840

$

GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Note

2020
Inflows/
(Outflows)
$

2019
Inflows/
(Outflows)
$

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts
Receipts from cemeteries operations (inclusive of GST)
Other income (inclusive of GST)
GST recovered from the Australian Taxation Office
Interest received
Total Receipts

8,908,379
175,381
399,048
308,353
9,791,161

7,238,995
121,604
522,594
398,529
8,281,722

Payments
Payments to suppliers & employees (inclusive of GST)
GST paid to the Australian Taxation Office
Total Payments

( 7,217,946)
( 395,346)
( 7,613,292)

( 6,422,093)
( 343,112)
( 6,765,205)

8.1

2,177,869

1,516,517

2.1(a)(iv)

( 200,000)
500,000
( 1,848,249)
207,682

( 500,000)
1,100,000
( 2,259,774)
180,483

( 1,340,567)

( 1,479,291)

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Payments for other financial assets
Redeemed other financial assets (excluding earnings)
Payments for property, plant & equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment
Net Cash Flows (Used In) Investing Activities
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Financial Year

4.1

837,302

37,226

4,186,356

4,149,130

5,023,658

4,186,356

The Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2020
Note 1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies
These annual financial statements represent the audited general purpose financial statements for the Geelong
Cemeteries Trust (the Trust) for the period ending 30 June 2020. The report provides users with information about
the Cemetery Trusts' stewardship of resources entrusted to it.
Statement of Compliance
These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with
the Financial Management Act 1994, the Australian Charities and Not For Profits Commission Act 2012, the
applicable AASB's, which include interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).
They are presented in a manner consistent with the requirements of AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements.
The financial statements also comply with relevant Financial Reporting Directions (FRD's) issued by the Department
of Treasury and Finance, and relevant Standing Directions (SD's) authorised by the Assistant Treasurer.
The Geelong Cemeteries Trust is a not-for-profit entity and therefore applies the additional Aus paragraphs applicable
to "not-for-profit" Cemetery Trusts under the AASB's.
The annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Trust Members of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust on
11 August 2020.
Reporting Entity
The financial statements include all the controlled activities of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust. The Geelong
Cemeteries Trust was established under the Cemeteries Act 1890 and the operations are governed by the
Cemeteries and Crematoria Act 2003 . The financial statements of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust include Geelong
Eastern Cemetery, Geelong Western Public Cemetery, Grovedale (Germantown) Cemetery, Mount Duneed
Cemetery, Geelong Memorial Park and Crematorium, Leopold (Kensington) Cemetery, Drysdale (Bellarine)
Cemetery, Portarlington Cemetery, Highton (Barrabool Hills) Cemetery, Flinders Memorial Park, Lorne Cemetery,
Mount Moriac Cemetery, Winchelsea Cemetery, Queenscliff Cemetery, Colac Cemetery, Beeac Cemetery,
Warncoort Cemetery, Birregurra (Whoorel) Cemetery, Bellarine Memorial Park (Marcus Hill) and Gisborne Cemetery.
The objective of the Trust is to provide cemeteries, crematorium and memorialisation services to the public.
It's principal address is: "The Gatehouse", Eastern Cemetery, 141 Ormond Road, East Geelong 3219.
A description of the nature of Geelong Cemeteries Trust's operations and its principal activities is included in the
report of operations, which does not form part of these financial statements.
Basis of Accounting Preparation and Measurement
Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information
satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions
or other events is reported.
The accounting policies set out below have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2020, and the comparative information presented in these financial statements for the year ended 30 June
2019.
The going concern basis was used to prepare the financial statements.
These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, the functional and presentation currency of the
Cemetery Trust.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2020
Note 1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
The financial statements, except for cash flow information, have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.
Under the accrual basis, items are recognised as assets, liabilities, equity, income or expenses when they satisfy
the definitions and recognition criteria for those items, that is they are recognised in the reporting period to which they
relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, except for:
- non-current physical assets, which subsequent to acquisition, are measured at a revalued amount being their fair
value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent impairment
losses. Revaluations are made and are re-assessed when new indices are published by the Valuer-General to
ensure that the carrying amounts do not materially differ from their fair values;
- Investments and Other Financial Assets which are measured at fair value with movements reflected in equity until
the asset is derecognised (i.e. other comprehensive income - items that will not be classified to net result); and
- the fair value of assets other than land is generally based on their current replacement value.
Consistent with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, Geelong Cemeteries Trust determines the policies and
procedures for both recurring fair value measurements such as property, plant & equipment and financial instruments,
and for non-recurring fair value measurements such as non-financial physical assets held for sale, in accordance with
the requirements of AASB 13 and the relevant FRD's.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole;
(a) Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that a
cemetery can access at measurement date.
(b) Level 2 - Are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.
(c) Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for the assets or liability.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Geelong Cemeteries Trust has determined classes of assets and liabilities
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as
explained above.
In addition, Geelong Cemeteries Trust determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
The Valuer-General Victoria (VGV) is Geelong Cemeteries Trust's independent valuation agency.
Geelong Cemeteries Trust, in conjunction with VGV, monitors the changes in the fair value of each asset and liability
through relevant data sources to determine whether revaluation is required.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2020
Note 1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
professional judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the
revision, and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. Judgements and assumptions made
by management in the application of AASB's that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates,
with a risk of material adjustments in the subsequent reporting period, relate to:
(i) the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to Note 4.4);
(ii) Defined Benefits superannuation expense (refer to Note 3.3);
(iii) actuarial assumptions for employee benefit provisions based on likely tenure of existing staff, patterns of
leave claims, future salary movements and future discount rates (refer to Note 3.2); and
(iv) cost assumptions for the calculation of the provision for loss on pre-paid fees (refer to Note 5.5).
(a)

Amalgamations and Mergers
On 12 August 2010, the Surf Coast Shire Council gifted the following assets to the Geelong Cemeteries Trust.
- Lorne Cemetery
- Winchelsea Cemetery
- Mt. Moriac Cemetery
The Council also made a commitment to fund the perpetual maintenance reserve in the future in the amount
of $77,316, to be paid to the Trust over a ten year period. The balance owing, excluding interest, is $9,451
(2019 - $18,264) and this is recognised in Receivables.
Current Receivables of $9,451 (2019 - $8,813)
Non-Current Receivables of Nil (2019 - $9,451)

(b)

Rounding of Amounts
All amounts shown in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

(c)

Comparative Information
Where necessary the previous year's figures have been reclassified to facilitate comparisons. There are no
changes to this year's comparatives.

(d)

Goods and Services Tax
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred
is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office is included with other receivables or
payables in the Balance Sheet.
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office are presented
as operating cash flows.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2020
Note 1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(e)

Equity
Investments and Other Financial Assets Revaluation Surplus
The investments and other financial assets revaluation surplus arises on the revaluation of investments and
other financial assets. Where a revalued financial asset is sold that portion of the surplus which relates to
that financial asset is effectively realised, and is recognised in the comprehensive operating statement.
Where a revalued financial asset is impaired that portion of the surplus which relates to that financial asset is
recognised in the comprehensive operating statement.
Physical Asset Revaluation Surplus
The physical asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of
non-current physical assets.
Perpetual Maintenance Reserve
The perpetual maintenance reserve is used to provide funds for the perpetual maintenance requirements of
the Trust for each of the sites administered by the Trust. An annual allocation is provided in the approved
budget and is determined using estimated numbers of sales of rights of interments and interments. Details
of the obligations of the Trust are provided in Note 7.2 Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities.
Plant & Equipment Replacement Reserve
The plant & equipment replacement reserve has been created to provide funds for the replacement of the
cremators at the Crematorium. An allocation is made from each cremation carried out during the reporting
period and this is reviewed by the Trust each year at the time of the Budget preparation. The allocation has
been determined using current numbers of cremations, existing costs of replacement of each cremator and
current charges for cremations.

(f)

Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic
Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has
had, or may have, on the Trust based on known information. This consideration extends to the nature of the
products and services offered, customers, supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the Trust
operates. Other than as addressed in specific notes, there does not currently appear to be either any
significant impact upon the financial statements or any significant uncertainties with respect to events or
conditions which may impact the Trust unfavourably as at the reporting date or subsequently as a result of
the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2020
Note 2

Funding Delivery of Our Services

The Geelong Cemeteries Trust receives income from the supply of services to enable it to fulfil its objectives.
The Trust also receives grants from Government.
Note 2.1 (a) Income from Transactions

Note

(i) Cemetery Operations Income
Interment fees
Rights of burial
Cremation fees
Memorial fees
Plaque sales
Monument permit fees
Concrete-lined graves
Government grants
Gain on disposal of property, plant & equipment
Recoups
Total Cemetery Operations Income

2.1(a)(iv)

2020
$
1,582,637
2,549,155
1,361,535
1,343,132
646,309
214,935
( 8,605)
666,066
70,689
20,000
8,445,853

2019
$
1,497,178
1,669,437
1,165,241
1,062,306
609,962
255,184
18,747
149,936
50,495
16,318
6,494,804

(ii) Investment Income
Investment income
Dividend income
Total Investment Income

87,854
202,200
290,054

137,649
244,975
382,624

(iii) Other Income
Other income
Lease Rental Income
Gifted Assets - Colac Otway Shire
Contributions - Yaugher Cemetery Trust
Total Other Income

83,802
56,865
20,000
20,723
181,390

75,020
35,529
110,549

207,682
( 136,993)
70,689

180,483
( 129,988)
50,495

(iv) Net Gain on Disposal of Non-Current Assets
Proceeds from sale of assets
Written down value of assets sold

Revenue Recognition
Income is recognised in accordance with either:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

contributions by owners, in accordance with AASB 1004;
income for not-for-profit entities, in accordance with AASB 1058;
revenue or a contract liability arising from a contract with a customer, in accordance with AASB 15;
a lease liability, in accordance with AASB 16;
a financial instrument, in accordance with AASB 9; or
a provision, in accordance with AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2020
Note 2

Funding Delivery of Our Services (continued)

Cemetery Operations Income
Performance Obligations and Revenue Recognition Policies
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in the contract with the customer. Geelong
Cemeteries Trust recognises revenue when it transfers control of a good or service to the customer i.e. revenue
is recognised when, or as, the performance obligations for the sale of goods and services to the customer are
satisfied.
- Customers obtain control of the supplies and consumables at a point in time when the goods are
delivered to, and have been accepted at, their premises.
- Income from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and have been accepted by
the customer at their premises.
- Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised at a point in time when the performance obligation
is satisfied i.e. when the service is completed; and over time when the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the service as it is provided.
For sales related to rights of interment for graves, cremation memorials and mausoleum crypts, revenue is
recognised at the time of sale as the right to use has passed to the customer and the Trust's performance
obligations has been met. There is no memorialisation portion associated with any of these rights of interment.
For sales related to interment and cremation fees and certain memorialisation products such as plaques,
revenue is recognised at the time the service is provided to the customer or at the time the goods are ordered
for the customer. These performance obligations have been selected as they align with the terms and conditions
of sale related to these revenue streams.
For other operating income, revenue is recognised when the performance obligation has been fulfilled.
Consideration received in advance of recognising the associated revenue from the customer is recorded as a
contract liability (Note 5.4 Unearned Income). Where the performance obligations are satisfied but payment is
not yet received, a contract asset is recorded (Note 5.1 Receivables).
Government Grants
Income from grants for the construction of assets is recognised progressively as the asset is constructed. The
progressive percentage costs incurred is used to recognise income because this most closely reflects the
progress to completion, as costs are incurred as the works are done.
Income from grants that are enforceable and with sufficiently specific performance obligations are accounted for
under AASB 15 as revenue from contracts with customers, with revenue recognised as these performance
obligations are met.
Income from grants without any sufficiently specific performance obligations, or that are not enforceable, is
recognised at the time of receipt i.e. Job Keeper.
As a result of the transitional impacts of adopting AASB 15 and AASB 1058, aportion of the grant revenue has
been deferred in Prepaid Income (Note 5.6). If the grant revenue was accounted for under the previous accounting
standard AASB 1004 in 2019-20, the total grant revenue received would have been recognised in full.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2020
Note 2

Funding Delivery of Our Services (continued)

Government Grants (continued)
Performance Obligations
The government grants recognised under AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers are:
(a) Cultural Heritage Management Plan at Drysdale Cemetery ($25,000) - with the revenue being recognised at
the completion of the plan by the consultant.
(b) Construction of Roads and Kerbing at Portarlington Cemetery ($45,000) - with the revenue being recognised
when the construction works have been completed.
(c) Fence Installation at Gisborne Cemetery ($6,930) - with the revenue being recognised when the fence
construction has been completed.
(d) Common Foundations for Feng Shui Section at Portarlington Cemetery ($120,000) - with the revenue being
recognised when the foundations construction has been completed.
Previous Accounting Policy for 30 June 2019
Grant income arises from transactions in which a party provides goods or assets (or extinguishes a liability) to
the Geelong Cemeteries Trust without receiving approximately equal value in return. While grants may result in
the provision of some goods or services to the transferring party, they do not provide a claim to receive benefits
directly of approximately equal value (and are termed 'non-reciprocal' transfers). Receipt and sacrifice of
approximately equal value may occur, but only by coincidence.
Some grants are reciprocal in nature (i.e. equal value is given back by the recipient of the grant to the provider).
Geelong Cemeteries Trust recognises income when it has satisfied its performance obligations under the terms
of the grant.
For non-reciprocal grants, Geelong Cemeteries Trust recognises revenue when the grant is received.
Grants can be received as general purpose grants, which refers to grants which are not subject to conditions
regarding their use. Alternatively, they may be received as specific purpose grants, which are paid for a
particular purpose and/or have conditions attached regarding their use.
Voluntary Services
Contributions in the form of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined, and the
services would have been purchased if not donated. Geelong Cemeteries Trust did not receive any volunteer
services and does not depend on volunteers to deliver its services.
Note 2.1 (b) Other Income
Dividends Received from Investments
Interest on Investments
Total Other Income

2020
$
202,200
87,854

2019
$
244,975
137,649

290,054

382,624

Other income is recognised as revenue when received. Other income includes recoveries for salaries and wages
and external services provided, and donations and bequests. If donations are for a specific purpose, they may
be appropriated to a surplus, such as the specific restricted purpose surplus.
Interest Revenue
Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield of the
financial asset and allocates the interest over the relevant period.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2020
Note 2

Funding Delivery of Our Services (continued)

Dividend Revenue
Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. Dividends represent the
income arising from the Trust's investment in financial assets.
Disposal of non-financial assets
Any gain or loss on the sale of non-financial assets is recognised in the operating result at the date that control
of the asset is passed to the buyer and is determined after deducting from the proceeds the carrying amount of
the asset at that time.
Fair Value of Assets and Services Received Free of Charge or for Nominal Consideration
Resources received free of charge or for nominal consideration are recognised at their fair value when the
transferee obtains control over them, irrespective of whether restrictions or conditions are imposed over the use
use of the contributions, unless received from another cemetery or agency as a consequence of a restructuring
of administrative arrangements. In the latter case, such transfer will be recognised at carrying amount.
Contributions in the form of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the
services would have been purchased if not received as a donation.
Entity as Lessor
Geelong Cemeteries Trust holds lease arrangements with other parties whereby they lease an area of land
within the cemetery site for their exclusive use.
The following table sets out the maturity analysis of lease receivables, showing the undiscounted lease
payments to be received after the reporting date.
Note 2.1 (c) Operating Lease Income

2020
$

2019
$

Non-cancellable operating lease receivables
Not longer than one year
Longer than one year but not longer than five years
Longer than five years

46,865
187,460
355,921

46,865
187,460
402,786

Total

590,246

637,111
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2020
Note 3.1

The Cost of Delivering Our Services

This section provides an account of the expenses incurred by Geelong Cemeteries Trust in delivering services
and outputs. In Note 2, the funds that enable the provision of services were disclosed and in this note the cost
associated with provision of services are recorded.
2020
$

2019
$

(a) Cost of Sales
Cost of goods sold - inventory
Total Cost of Sales

366,051
366,051

177,837
177,837

(b) Cemetery Levy

241,999

202,048

(c) Employee Expenses
Salaries and wages
Salaries and wages on-costs
Total Employee Benefits

3,473,234
624,826
4,098,060

3,137,301
578,344
3,715,645

(d) Administrative Costs
Administration
Computer costs
Insurance
Total Administrative Costs

409,877
148,932
28,517
587,326

446,065
149,620
22,677
618,362

1,268,292
232,009
184,237
1,684,538

971,158
265,025
149,148
1,385,331

Expenses from Transactions

(e) Maintenance and Operating Costs
Cemeteries and crematorium
Plant and equipment maintenance
Plaques and mounts
Total Maintenance and Operating Costs

Expense Recognition
Expenses are recognised as they are incurred and reported in the financial year to which they relate.
(i) Cost of Sales
Costs of sales are recognised when the sale of an item occurs by transferring the cost or value of the item/s
from inventories.
(ii) Cemetery Levy
In accordance with Section 18Q of the Cemeteries and Crematoria Act 2003 , the Trust is required to pay a
percentage of its gross earnings, as defined by the Department of Health and Human Services, to the
Consolidated Fund held by the State of Victoria. "Gross Earnings" is currently defined as cemetery operations
income and investment income, excluding: donations, government grants, profit or loss on sale of investments
and other assets and assets received free of charge. The levy rate for this reporting period is 3% (2019 - 3%).
The levy is recognised as an accrued expense in Note 5.3 for the amount of $241,999 (2019 - $202,048).
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2020
Note 3.1

The Cost of Delivering Our Services (continued)

Expense Recognition (continued)
(iii) Employee Expenses
Employee expenses include:
- wages and salaries;
- fringe benefits tax;
- leave entitlements;
- termination payments;
- workcover premiums; and
- superannuation expenses which are reported differently depending upon whether employees are
members of defined benefit or defined contribution plans.
(iv) Administrative Costs
Administrative costs are recognised in the period to which they relate and includes the operation of the main
Administration Office in Geelong East and a smaller operation based at the Colac Cemetery.
(v) Maintenance and Operating Costs
Maintenance and Operating costs generally represent the day-to-day operating costs of each of the cemetery
sites and crematorium administered by the Trust. All costs are expensed in the period they are incurred and
the majority of the expenses relate to maintenance of lawn and monument areas within the twenty sites.
(vi) Operating Lease Payments
Operating lease payments up until 30 June 2019 (including contingent rentals) were recognised on a straight
line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the leased asset.
From 1 July 2019, the following lease payments are recognised on a straight line basis:
- Short-term leases - leases with a term less than 12 months; and
- Low value leases - leases with the underlying asset's fair value (when new, regardless of the age of the
asset being leased) being no more than $10,000.
Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability (i.e. variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement
date). These payments are recognised in the period in which the event or condition that triggers those
payments occur.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2020
Note 3.2

Provisions

2020
$

2019
$

203,661
47,671

174,987
25,573

45,588
548,879
845,799

34,440
519,062
754,062

37,856
102,188
140,044

31,919
93,746
125,665

985,843

879,727

61,383
10,638
72,021

39,657
6,872
46,529

1,057,864

926,256

Employee Benefits in the Balance Sheet
Current Provisions
Employee Benefits
Annual Leave (i)
- unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months
- unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months (ii)
Long Service Leave (i)
- unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months
- unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months (ii)
Provision for On-Costs
- unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months
- unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months (ii)

Total Current Provisions
Non-Current Provisions
Long Service Leave (i)
- conditional and expected to be settled after 12 months (ii)
On-Costs on non-current employee provisions (ii)
Total Non-Current Provisions
Total Provision for Employee Benefits

Notes:
(i) Employee benefits consist of annual leave and long service leave accrued by employees. On-costs such
as workers compensation insurance are not employee benefits and are reflected as a separate provision.
(ii) The amounts disclosed are discounted to present values.
(a) Employee Benefits and On-Costs (i)
Current Employee Benefits
Annual Leave
Long Service Leave
Non-Current Employee Benefits
Long Service Leave
Total Employee Benefits

251,332
594,467

200,560
553,502

61,383
907,182

39,657
793,719

Current On-Costs
Non-Current On-Costs
Total On-Costs

140,044
10,638
150,682

125,665
6,872
132,537

1,057,864

926,256

Total Employee Benefits and On-Costs

(i) Employee benefits consist of annual leave and long service leave accrued by employees. On-costs such
as workers compensation insurance are not employee benefits and are reflected as a separate provision.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2020
Note 3.2

Provisions (continued)

2020
$

2019
$

593,159

511,233

46,926
60,025
( 44,260)
655,850

82,426
32,937
( 33,437)
593,159

200,560

210,117

243,598
( 192,826)
251,332

230,927
( 240,484)
200,560

132,537
72,078
( 17,904)
( 36,029)
150,682

98,116
50,015
25,864
( 41,458)
132,537

(b) Movement in Provisions
Movement in Long Service Leave:
Balance at start of year
Provision made during the year
- Revaluations
- Expense recognising employee service
Settlement made during the year
Balance at the end of the year
Movement in Annual Leave:
Balance at start of year
Provision made during the year
- Expense recognising employee service
Annual leave taken
Balance at the end of the year
Movement in On-Costs Provision:
Balance at start of year
Additional provisions recognised
Unwinding of discount and effect of changes in the discount rate
Reduction due to transfer out
Balance at the end of the year

Employee Benefit Recognition
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of annual leave and long service leave for
services rendered to the reporting date as an expense during the period the services are delivered.
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Trust has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is
probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably.
The amount recognised as a liability is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows, using a discount rate that reflects the time value of money and risks specific
to the provision.
Annual Leave
Liabilities for annual leave are recognised in the provision for employee benefits as "Current Liabilities", because
the Trust does not have an unconditional right to defer settlements of these liabilities.
Depending on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave
are measured at:
(i) Nominal value - if the Cemetery Trust expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or
(ii) Present value - if the Cemetery Trust does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.
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Note 3.2

Provisions (continued)

Long Service Leave (LSL)
Liability for LSL is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.
Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current liability, even where the
Trust does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional right to
defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months. An unconditional right
arises after a qualifying period.
The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:
(i) Nominal value - if the Cemetery Trust expects to wholly settle within 12 months; and
(ii) Present value - if the Cemetery Trust does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.
Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer the settlement
of the entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. This non-current liability is
measured at present value.
Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a
transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in estimations e.g. bond rate
movements, inflation rate movements and changes in probability factors which are then recognised as other
economic flows.
Termination Benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date or when an
employee decides to accept an offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment.
On-Costs Related to Employee Benefits
Provision for on-costs, such as workers compensation and superannuation, are recognised separately from
provisions for employee benefits.
Note 3.3

Superannuation

Contributions by the Trust (excluding any unfunded liability payments) to superannuation plans for the financial
year ended 30 June 2020 are detailed below:
2020
2019
Fund
$
$
Defined Benefit Plan (i)
Vision Super
47,302
46,189
Defined Contribution Plans
Vision Super
150,740
138,540
Other Funds
108,585
111,694
306,627
296,423
Contributions Outstanding as at Year End
Super Guarantee Contributions
Vision Super
12,225
17,172
Other Funds
7,499
9,015
19,724
26,187
(i) The basis for determining the level of contributions is determined by the various actuaries of the defined
benefit superannuation plans.
Employees of the Trust are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and the Trust contributes to both defined
benefit and defined contribution plans. The defined benefit plan provides benefits based on years of service and
final average salary.
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Note 3.3

Superannuation (continued)

Defined Contribution Superannuation Plans
In relation to defined contribution (i.e. accumulation) superannuation plans, the associated expense is simply
the employer contributions that are paid or payable in respect of employees who are members of these plans
during the reporting period. Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed when
incurred.
The defined contribution funds receive both employer and employee contributions on a progressive basis.
Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of employee earnings in accordance with the
Superannuation Guarantee Legislation (9.5%). The Trust's contributions for the current and prior year are 9.5%
of salaries. No further liability accrues to the employer as the superannuation benefits accruing to employees
are represented by their share of the net assets of their chosen superannuation fund.
Defined Benefit Superannuation Plans
The amount charged to the Comprehensive Operating Statement in respect of defined benefit superannuation
plans represents the contributions made by the Trust to the superannuation plans in respect of the services of
current Trust staff during the reporting period. Superannuation contributions are made to the plans based on the
relevant rules of each plan, and are based upon actuarial advice.
Employees of the Trust are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and the Trust contributes to both the
defined benefit and defined contribution plans. The defined benefit plan(s) provide benefits based on years of
service and final average salary.
The name and details of the major employee superannuation funds and contributions made by the Trust are
disclosed above.
The defined benefits plans provide benefits to employees based on years of service and final average salary.
The Trust makes employer contributions to the defined benefits category of the Superannuation Fund at a
minimum of the rate determined by the Fund's Trustee.
On the basis of the results of the most recent full actuarial investigation at 30 June 2017, the Trust's current
contribution is 9.5% of the superannuation salary.
Unfunded Defined Benefit Superannuation Liability
Geelong Cemeteries Trust makes employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to the
Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (LASF), known as Vision Super since 2002, is a not-for-profit industry
fund for cemeteries and certain other agencies. Vision Super is the Trustee of both the defined benefit plan
(closed since 1993) and the Super Saver (accumulation) fund.
In accordance with regulations, the Fund's Trustees are required to complete an actuarial review of
superannuation funds at least every three years to ensure the current assets are adequate to meet the benefits
that have previously been promised to members.
In early 2018, Vision Super wrote to all participating cemeteries and other agencies regarding the results of
their actuarial investigation into the Vision Super defined benefit plan.
As advised, there is no shortfall in the fund and therefore no contribution required from the Trust.
Superannuation Liabilities
The Trust does not recognise any unfunded defined benefit liability in respect of the superannuation plans
because the Trust has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; its
only obligation is to pay superannuation contributions as they fall due.
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Note 4

Key Assets to Support Service Delivery

The Trust controls infrastructure and other investments that are utilised in fulfilling its objectives and conducting
its activities. They represent the key resources that have been entrusted to the Trust to be utilised for delivery
of those outputs.
2020
2019
Note 4.1 Cash and Cash Equivalents
$
$
Cash on hand
Cash at bank
Bank 24-hour Call Account
Term deposits

800
268,593
2,132,778
2,621,487

800
247,159
2,850,525
1,087,872

5,023,658

4,186,356

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash at banks, deposits at call with a maturity of 3 months
or less which are readily convertible to cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.
Note 4.2 Investments and Other Financial Assets
Current
Fixed Term Deposits at cost
Managed Funds at fair value
Non-Current
Fixed Term Deposits at cost
Managed Funds at fair value

Total Investments and Other Financial Assets

283,311
283,311

500,000
500,000

1,000,000
3,961,668
4,961,668

1,000,000
4,188,477
5,188,477

5,244,979

5,688,477

Ageing analysis of other financial assets
All Investments and Other Financial Assets are classified as not past due and not impaired for both the current
reporting period and previous reporting period.
Investments and other financial assets
The Trust classifies its other financial assets between current and non-current assets based on the purpose for
which the assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its other financial assets at initial
recognition.
The Trust assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired. All financial assets, except those measured at fair value through profit or loss are subject to annual
review for impairment.
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Note 4

Key Assets to Support Service Delivery (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets)
is derecognised when:
- the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
- the Trust retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay
them in full without material delay to a third party under a "pass through" arrangement; or
- the Trust has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either:
(i) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or
(ii) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
Where the Trust has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or transferred
control, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Trust's continuing involvement in the asset.
Impairment of financial assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Trust assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or group of financial assets is impaired. All financial instrument assets, except those measured at fair
value through the Comprehensive Income Statement, are subject to annual review for impairment.
The Trust has reviewed Fixed Term Deposits at Cost and determined there is no impairment in the current
financial year.
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Key Assets to Support Service Delivery (continued)

Note 4.3 Inventories

2020
$

Current
Finished Goods
ROI - Graves
ROI - Concrete-lined Graves
ROI - Mausoleum Crypts
Memorial Items
Total Current Inventories

2019
$

30,310
25,500
38,000
43,849
137,659

26,070
21,700
35,000
82,770

429,585
956,840
1,386,425

302,085
956,105
1,258,190

394,215
48,948
487,368
930,531

371,976
46,262
671,279
1,089,517

Total Non-Current Inventories

2,316,956

2,347,707

Total Inventories

2,454,615

2,430,477

429,585
956,840
424,525
74,448
525,368
43,849
2,454,615

302,085
956,105
398,046
67,962
706,279
2,430,477

Non-Current
Work in Progress/Undeveloped Land
Inventory - Works in Progress
Inventory - Undeveloped Land
Finished Goods
ROI - Graves
ROI - Concrete-lined Graves
ROI - Mausoleum Crypts

Represented by:
Inventory - Works in Progress
Inventory - Undeveloped Land
ROI - Graves
ROI - Concrete-lined Graves
ROI - Mausoleum Crypts
Memorial Items

Inventories include goods and other property held either for sale or consumption in the ordinary course of
business operations. It excludes depreciable assets.
All inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Inventories acquired for no cost or nominal considerations are measured at current replacement cost at the
date of acquisition.
Cost is assigned to land for sale (undeveloped, under development and developed) and to other high value, low
volume inventory items on a specific identification of cost basis:
Right of Interment (ROI) - includes the costs of development and construction averaged over the number of
graves or memorial positions in the construction.
Undeveloped Land - measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value on the basis of weighted average
cost and includes adjacent land and landscaping that add to the amenity of the land for
interment.
Cost for all other inventory is measured on the basis of weighted average cost.
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Key Assets to Support Service Delivery (continued)

Note 4.4 Property, Plant and Equipment
(a) Gross Carrying Amount and Accumulated Depreciation

Land - Infrastructure
Land at fair value
Total Land - Infrastructure
Infrastructure Works
Infrastructure works at fair value
less Accumulated depreciation

2020
$

2019
$

720,150
720,150

720,150
720,150

9,486,425
( 3,988,552)
5,497,873

Works-in-Progress - Infrastructure works at cost
Total Infrastructure Works
Buildings and Improvements
Buildings and improvements at fair value
less Accumulated depreciation

9,293,661
( 3,851,059)
5,442,602

35,967

40,827

5,533,840

5,483,429

12,432,191
( 2,700,226)
9,731,965

10,966,570
( 2,551,553)
8,415,017

Works-in-Progress - Buildings at cost

-

489,466

Total Buildings and Improvements

9,731,965

8,904,483

4,423,448
( 2,677,030)
1,746,418

4,344,459
( 2,527,718)
1,816,741

694,858
( 467,803)
227,055

619,997
( 428,162)
191,835

1,973,473

2,008,576

17,959,428

17,116,638

Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment at fair value
less Accumulated depreciation

Office Equipment, Furniture and Fittings
Office equipment, furniture and fittings at fair value
less Accumulated depreciation

Total Plant and Equipment
Total Property, Plant and Equipment
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(b) Reconciliation of Property, Plant and Equipment
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of asset for the Trust at the beginning and end of the previous and current financial year are set out below.
Land - Infrastructure
Infrastructure
Works
$
$
Balance at 1 July 2018

Buildings and
Improvements
$

Plant and
Office Equipment,
Equipment Furniture & Fittings Works-in-Progress
$
$
$

Total
$
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720,150

5,210,026

7,576,857

1,234,256

214,286

610,265

15,565,840

Additions/Transfers

-

367,375

974,882

1,119,518

23,504

( 79,972)

2,405,307

Disposals

-

-

-

Depreciation - Note 4.4(g)

-

( 129,363)

( 625)

-

( 129,988)

-

( 724,521)

( 134,799)

( 136,722)

( 407,670)

( 45,330)

720,150

5,442,602

8,415,017

1,816,741

191,835

530,293

17,116,638

Additions/Transfers

-

192,764

1,465,621

483,794

74,862

35,967

2,253,008

Transfers to completed assets

-

-

-

-

-

Disposals

-

-

-

Depreciation - Note 4.4(g)

-

Balance at 1 July 2019

Carrying amount at 30 June 2019

720,150

( 136,993)

-

( 137,493)

( 148,673)

( 417,124)

( 39,642)

5,497,873

9,731,965

1,746,418

227,055

( 530,293)

( 530,293)

-

( 136,993)

-

( 742,932)

35,967

17,959,428

Land and Buildings Carried at Valuation
The Valuer-General Victoria undertook to re-value all of Geelong Cemeteries Trust's land and buildings to determine their fair value. The valuation, which conforms to
Australian Valuation Standards, was determined by reference to the amounts for which assets could be exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm's
length transaction. The valuation was based on independent assessments. The effective date of the valuation was 30 June 2017.
In compliance with FRD 103H, in the year ended 30 June 2020, the Trust's management conducted an annual assessment of the fair value of land and buildings. To
facilitate this, management obtained from the Department of Treasury and Finance the Valuer-General Victoria indices for the financial year ended 30 June 2020.
The fair value of "Land - Infrastructure" had been adjusted by a Managerial Revaluation in 2018. The latest indices do not require a further Managerial Revaluation.
There was no material financial impact on the change in fair value of buildings.

GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
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Note 4.4 Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)
(c) Fair Value Measurement Hierarchy for Assets
Carrying
Amount
as at
30 June 2020
$

Fair value measurement at end of
reporting period using:
Level 1 *
$

Level 2 *
$

Level 3 *
$

Land - Infrastructure at fair value

720,150

-

-

720,150

Infrastructure Works at fair value

5,497,873

-

-

5,497,873

Buildings and Improvements at fair value

9,731,965

-

-

9,731,965

Plant and Equipment at fair value

1,746,418

-

-

1,746,418

227,055

-

-

227,055

17,923,461

-

-

17,923,461

Office Equipment, Furniture and Fittings at
fair value

Carrying
Amount
as at
30 June 2019
$

Fair value measurement at end of
reporting period using:
Level 1 *
$

Level 2 *
$

Level 3 *
$

Land - Infrastructure at fair value

720,150

-

-

720,150

Infrastructure Works at fair value

5,442,602

-

-

5,442,602

Buildings and Improvements at fair value

8,415,017

-

-

8,415,017

Plant and Equipment at fair value

1,816,741

-

-

1,816,741

191,835

-

-

191,835

16,586,345

-

-

16,586,345

Office Equipment, Furniture and Fittings at
fair value

* Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy as detailed in Note 1.
There have been no transfers between levels during the period.
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(d) Reconciliation of Level 3 Fair Value

2020

Office
Equipment,
Land Infrastructure Buildings and Plant and
Furniture
infrastructure Works at fair Improvements Equipment and Fittings
at fair value
at fair value at fair value at fair value
value
$
$
$
$
$

Opening Balance

720,150

5,442,602

8,415,017

1,816,741

191,835

Purchases (Sales)

-

192,764

1,465,621

346,801

74,862

Revaluation Increment

-

-

-

-

-

Gains or losses recognised in
net result
- Depreciation

-

Subtotal

-

Items recognised in income
- Transfers from Other Trusts
Subtotal
Closing Balance

2019

( 137,493)

( 148,673)

( 417,124)

( 39,642)

55,271

1,316,948

( 70,323)

35,220

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

720,150

5,497,873

9,731,965

1,746,418

227,055

Office
Equipment,
Land Infrastructure Buildings and Plant and
Furniture
infrastructure Works at fair Improvements Equipment and Fittings
value
at fair value at fair value at fair value
at fair value
$
$
$
$
$

Opening Balance

720,150

5,210,026

7,576,857

1,234,256

214,286

Purchases (Sales)

-

367,375

974,882

990,155

22,879

Revaluation Increment

-

-

-

-

-

Gains or losses recognised in
net result
- Depreciation

-

( 134,799)

( 136,722)

( 407,670)

( 45,330)

Subtotal

-

232,576

838,160

582,485

( 22,451)

Items recognised in income
- Transfers from Other Trusts

-

-

-

-

-

Subtotal

-

-

-

-

-

720,150

5,442,602

8,415,017

1,816,741

191,835

Closing Balance
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(d) Reconciliation of Level 3 Fair Value (continued)
Identifying Unobservable Inputs (Level 3) Fair Value Measurements
Level 3 fair value inputs are unobservable valuation inputs for an asset or liability. These inputs require
significant judgement and assumptions in deriving fair value for both financial and non-financial assets.
Unobservable inputs shall be used to measure fair value to the extent that relevant observable inputs are
not available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or
liability at the measurement date. However, the fair value measurement objective remains the same, i.e.,
an exit price at the measurement date from the perspective of a market participant that holds the asset
or owes the liability. Therefore, unobservable inputs shall reflect the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk.
Assumptions about risk include the inherent risk in a particular valuation technique used to measure fair
value (such as a pricing risk model) and the risk inherent in the inputs to the valuation technique. A
measurement that does not include an adjustment for risk would not represent a fair value measurement
if market participants would include one when pricing the asset or liability i.e., it might be necessary to
include a risk adjustment when there is significant measurement uncertainty. For example, when there
has been a significant decrease in the volume or level of activity when compared with normal market
activity for the asset or liability or similar assets or liabilities, and the Trust has determined that the
transaction price or quoted price does not represent fair value.
Specialised Land and Specialised Buildings
The market approach is used for specialised land although is adjusted for the community service obligation
(CSO) to reflect the specialised nature of the assets being valued. Specialised assets contain significant,
unobservable adjustments; therefore these assets are classified as Level 3 under the market based direct
comparison approach.
The CSO adjustment is a reflection of the valuer's assessment of the impact of restrictions associated
with an asset to the extent that is also equally applicable to market participants. This approach is in light
of the highest and best use consideration required for fair value measurement, and takes into account the
use of the asset that is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible. As adjustments
of CSO are considered as significant unobservable inputs, specialised land would be classified as Level 3
assets.
For the Trust, the current replacement cost method is used for specialised buildings, adjusting for the
associated depreciation. As depreciation adjustments are considered as significant and unobservable
inputs in nature, specialised buildings are classified as Level 3 for fair value measurements.
An independent valuation of the Trust's specialised land was performed by the Valuer-General Victoria.
The valuation was performed using the market approach adjusted for CSO. The effective date of the
valuation is 30 June 2017.
As a result of increases in the land indices provided by the Valuer-General Victoria in 2018, specialised
land required a managerial revaluation as at 30 June 2018 as the overall increase in values was in excess
of 10% using these indices, which represents a material movement.
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(d) Reconciliation of Level 3 Fair Value (continued)
Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment is held at carrying amount (current cost). When plant and equipment is specialised in
use, such that it is rarely sold other than as part of a going concern, the current replacement cost is used
to estimate fair value. Unless there is market evidence that current replacement costs are significantly
different from the original acquisition cost, it is considered unlikely that current replacement cost will be
materially different from the existing carrying amount.
Office Equipment, Furniture and Fittings
Office Equipment, Furniture and Fittings is held at carrying amount (current cost). When these assets are
specialised in use, such that it is rarely sold other than as part of a going concern, the current replacement
cost is used to estimate fair value. Unless there is market evidence that current replacement costs are
significantly different from the original acquisition cost, it is considered unlikely that current replacement
cost will be materially different from the existing carrying amount.
Infrastructure
Infrastructure assets are generally constructed by the Trust and are held at carrying amount (current cost).
In most cases they are specialised in use, such that they are rarely sold other than as part of a going
concern, therefore cost is used to estimate fair value. Unless there is market evidence that current
replacement costs are significantly different from the original construction cost, it is considered unlikely
that current replacement cost will be materially different from the existing carrying amount.
There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2020.
For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best use.
(e) Fair Value Determination for Level 3 Assets

Asset Class
Specialised Land
Land - Infrastructure
Specialised Buildings
Buildings and
Improvements

Plant and Equipment

Examples of Types of
Assets
Land subject to restriction
as to use and/or sale
Specialised buildings with
limited alternative uses
and/or substantial
customisation
Specialised items with
limited alternative uses
and/or substantial
customisation

Likely Valuation Approach
Market approach

Significant Inputs
Community Service
Obligation (CSO)
adjustments (i)

Current replacement cost
approach

Useful life of the building.
Cost per square metre.

Current replacement cost
approach

Useful life of plant and
equipment.

Office Equipment,
Furniture and Fittings

Items required for General
Administration purposes

Current replacement cost
approach

Infrastructure

Roads, paths, fencing,
gates etc.

Current replacement cost
approach

Useful life of office
equipment, furniture and
fittings
Useful life of
infrastructure.

(i) A CSO adjustment of 95% was applied to reduce the market approach for the Trust specialised land.
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(e) Fair Value Determination for Level 3 Assets (continued)
Property, Plant and Equipment
All non-current physical assets are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost,
the cost is its fair value at the date of acquisition.
The cost of constructed non-financial physical assets includes the cost of all materials used in construction, direct
labour on the project and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads.
Land - Infrastructure is recognised initially at cost but is subject to revaluation as per FRD 103H Non-current
physical assets.
Buildings and Improvements are recognised initially at cost and subsequently measured at fair value less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss.
Plant and Equipment are recognised initially at cost and subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment loss. Current Replacement cost is generally a reasonable proxy for fair
value because of the short lives of the assets concerned.
Office Equipment, Furniture and Fittings are recognised initially at cost and subsequently measured at fair value
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss. Current Replacement cost is generally a
reasonable proxy for fair value because of the short lives of the assets concerned.
Infrastructure Assets are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment loss.
Revaluation of non-current physical assets
Non-current physical assets are measured at fair value and are revalued in accordance with FRD 103H Non-financial
Physical Assets . This revaluation process normally occurs at least every five years, based upon the asset's
Government Purpose Classification, but may occur more frequently if fair value assessments indicate material
changes in value. Independent valuers are used to conduct these scheduled revaluations and any interim
valuations are determined in accordance with the requirements of the FRD's . Revaluation increments or decrements
arise from differences between an asset's carrying amount and fair value.
Revaluation increments are recognised in "other comprehensive income" and are credited directly in equity to the
asset revaluation surplus, except that, to the extent that an increment reverses a revaluation decrement in respect
of that same class of asset previously recognised as an expense in net result, the increment is recognised as
income in the net result.
Revaluation decrements are recognised in "other comprehensive income" to the extent that a credit balance exists
in the asset revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of property, plant and equipment.
Revaluation increases and revaluation decreases relating to individual assets within an asset class are offset
against one another within that class but are not offset in respect of assets in different classes.
Revaluation surplus is not normally transferred to accumulated funds on derecognition of the relevant asset.
In accordance with FRD 103H, the Trust's non-current physical assets were assessed and it was determined that
a Managerial Revaluation of the Land category of the non-current physical assets was not required in the 2018/19
or 2019/20 Financial Years.
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(f) Property, Plant and Equipment Revaluation Surplus
2020
$

2019
$

7,238,440

7,238,440

-

-

Balance at the end of the reporting period*

7,238,440

7,238,440

*Represented by:
- Land
- Buildings and Improvements
- Infrastructure - Roads
- Infrastructure - Other than Roads

172,076
4,651,020
857,564
1,557,780

172,076
4,651,020
857,564
1,557,780

7,238,440

7,238,440

Property, Plant and Equipment Revaluation Surplus

Note

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period
Revaluation Increment
- Land
- Buildings and Improvements
- Infrastructure - Roads
- Infrastructure - Other than Roads

4.4(b)
4.4(b)
4.4(b)
4.4(b)

(g) Aggregate Depreciation Recognised as an Expense During the Year

Buildings and improvements
Infrastructure works
Plant and equipment
Office equipment, furniture and fittings
Total Depreciation

4.4(b)
4.4(b)
4.4(b)
4.4(b)

2020
$

2019
$

148,673
137,493
417,124
39,642
742,932

136,722
134,799
407,670
45,330
724,521

All infrastructure assets, buildings, plant and equipment and other non-financial physical assets that have
finite useful lives are depreciated.
Depreciation begins when the asset is available for use, which is when it is in the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in a manner intended by management.
Depreciation is generally calculated on a reducing balance basis, at a rate that allocates the asset value,
less any estimated residual value over its estimated useful life. Estimates of the remaining useful lives,
residual value and depreciation method for all assets are reviewed at least annually, and adjustments
made where appropriate. Assets with a cost in excess of $3,000 are capitalised and depreciation has been
provided on depreciable assets so as to allocate their cost or valuation over their estimated useful lives.
The following table indicates the expected useful lives of non-current assets on which the depreciation
charges are based.
2020
2019
Infrastructure works
Up to 40 years
Up to 40 years
Buildings and improvements
The Gatehouse, Eastern Cemetery
Up to 100 years
Up to 100 years
All Other Buildings
Up to 50 years
Up to 50 years
Plant and equipment
Up to 5 years
Up to 5 years
Office equipment, furniture and fittings
Up to 5 years
Up to 5 years
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Note 5

Other Assets and Liabilities
This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Trust's operations.

Note 5.1 Receivables

2020
$

2019
$

978,407
210,370
42,656

714,279
78,072
60,955

1,231,433

853,306

Contractual
Sundry debtors (see Note 1(a))

-

9,451

Total Non-Current Receivables

-

9,451

1,231,433

862,757

Current
Contractual
Trade debtors
Sundry debtors
Accrued interest and dividends
Total Current Receivables
Non-Current

Total Receivables

No impairment for credit losses has been booked in a separate account during either financial year reported.
Receivables consist of:
- Contractual receivables, which consists of debtors in relation to goods and services and accrued investment
income. These receivables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as "financial assets at
amortised cost". They are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
The Trust holds the contractual receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and
therefore subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.
- Statutory receivables, which predominantly includes amounts owing from the Victorian Government and
Goods and Services Tax (GST) input tax credits recoverable. Statutory receivables do not arise from
contracts and are recognised and measured similarly to contractual receivables (except for impairment), but
are not classified as financial instruments for disclosure purposes. The Trust applies AASB 9 for initial
measurement of the statutory receivables and as a result statutory receivables are initially recognised at fair
value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
Trade debtors are carried at nominal amounts due and are due for settlement within 30 days from the date of
recognition. Collectability of debts is reviewed on an ongoing basis, and debts which are known to be
uncollectable are written off.
Note 5.2 Other Current Assets
Prepayments

1,140

97,548

Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or
services or that part of expenditure made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that
period.
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Other Assets and Liabilities (continued)

Note 5.3 Payables
Current
Contractual
Trade creditors
Accrued salaries and wages
Accrued Cemetery Levy
Accrued Expenses
Accrued Expenses - Capital
Other creditors and accruals
Statutory
Net GST payable

2020
$

2019
$

231,715
125,560
241,999
28,431
68,996

246,431
5,930
202,048
80,063
145,533
114,136

9,423

22,025

706,124

816,166

Payables consist of:
- contractual payables, classified as financial instruments and measured at amortised cost. Accounts payable
and salaries and wages payable represent liabilities for goods and services provided to Geelong Cemeteries
Trust prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid, and
- statutory payables, that are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, but are not
classified as financial instruments and not included in the category of financial liabilities at amortised cost,
because they do not arise from contracts.
The normal credit terms for accounts payable are usually Nett 30 days.
Maturity Analysis of Payables
Details for the ageing analysis of payables are provided in Note 7.1(b)
Note 5.4 Unearned Income
Pre-Paid Fees
Total unearned income

5,741,152
5,741,152

5,457,391
5,457,391

Unearned income represents monies received in advance of service provision for items including interment,
cremation and other miscellaneous services. These monies are recorded as revenue in the year that the goods
or services are provided.
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Other Assets and Liabilities (continued)

Note 5.5 Other Provisions

2020
$

2019
$

Current Provisions
Onerous Contracts
Total Current Provisions

228,001
228,001

292,994
292,994

Total Other Provisions

228,001

292,994

292,994
( 64,993)
228,001

296,901
( 3,907)
292,994

Onerous Contracts Reconciliation
Opening Balance
Additional provision recognised/(used)
Closing Balance

Onerous Contracts (on Pre-Paid Fees as detailed in Note 5.4)
Provisions are recognised when either a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of a past event, exists at the
balance sheet date and where the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated and the future sacrifice of
economic benefits is probable. A provision will also be recognised for onerous contracts where the unavoidable
costs of meeting the contractual obligations exceed the economic benefits that are expected to be received
under the contract.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows.
A provision is recognised in relation to pre-paid fees where the cost of providing the purchased goods and/or
services is expected to be greater than the amount received/revenue to be recognised and the current service
cost can be reliably measured. The provision represents the present value of the expenditure required to provide
the goods and/or service, less the amount of revenue to be recognised.
At this time the Trust is aware that there will be ongoing significant cash outflows for future expenditure on
perpetual maintenance of the public cemeteries but is unable to calculate a sufficiently reliable estimate of any
related present obligation which may arise under the accounting standards and accordingly has not recognised
a value for this obligation in these financial statements.
Note 5.6 Prepaid Income
Prepaid Income - Government Grants
Prepaid Income - Cemetery Development
Total prepaid income

255,074
220,440
475,514

220,440
220,440

Prepaid income for the current year represents monies received as Government Grants from the Department of
Health and Human Services, with some works yet to be completed in the relevant reporting period.
- Ecological Assessment of all Cemetery Sites $57,794
- Burial Foundations at the Portarlington Cemetery for Feng Shui Section $197,280
Grant income is recognised as service obligations are met. The remaining grant revenue is recognised when the
service obligations are delivered in the following year.
Prepaid income for Cemetery Development represents deposits paid in advance for the development of a Feng
Shui section within the Portarlington Cemetery.
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Note 6

How We Finance Our Operations

This section provides information on the sources of finance utilised by the Trust during its operations and other
information related to financing activities of the Trust.
Note 6.1 Commitments for Expenditure

2020
$

Capital Commitments
Plant & Equipment Purchases

2019
$

-

65,471

-

65,471

These Commitments are due:
Not longer than 1 Year
Total commitments for expenditure (GST inclusive)

-

65,471
65,471

Less GST recoverable from the ATO

-

( 5,952)

Total commitments for expenditure (GST exclusive)

-

59,519

Commitments for future expenditure include operating and capital commitments arising from contracts. These
commitments are disclosed by way of a note at their nominal value and are inclusive of the GST payable. In
addition, where it is considered appropriate and provides additional relevant information to users, the net
present values of significant individual projects are stated. These future expenditures cease to be disclosed as
commitments once the related liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet.

Page 35

GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2020
Note 7

Risks, Contingencies and Valuation Uncertainties

The Trust is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary to make
judgements and estimates associated with recognition and measurement of items in the financial statements.
This section sets out financial instrument specific information (including exposures to financial risks), as well as
those items that are contingent in nature or require a higher level of judgement to be applied, which for the Trust
is related mainly to fair value determination.
Note 7.1 Financial Instruments
Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one entity
and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Due to the nature of the Trust's activities,
certain financial assets and financial liabilities arise under statute rather than a contract. Such financial
assets and financial liabilities do not meet the definition of financial instruments in AASB 132 Financial
Instruments: Presentation.
Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
The Trust's principal financial instruments comprise of:
- Cash and Cash Equivalents
- Investments and Other Financial Assets
- Receivables (excluding statutory receivables)
- Payables (excluding statutory payables)
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition,
the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, with respect
to each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in various Notes
throughout the financial statements.
The Trust's main financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and equity price risk.
The Trust manages these financial risks in accordance with its financial risk management policy.
The Trust uses different methods to measure and manage the different risks to which it is exposed.
Primary responsibility for the identification and management of financial risks rests with the Audit &
Risk Committee of the Trust.
The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to prudentially manage the Trust's financial risk
within the government policy parameters.
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Risks, Contingencies and Valuation Uncertainties (continued)

Note 7.1 Financial Instruments (continued)
(a) Categorisation of Financial Instruments
Financial
Assets at
Amortised
Cost

2020
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Receivables
- Trade Debtors
- Other Receivables
Investments and Other
Financial Assets
- Term Deposits
- Managed Funds
Total Financial Assets (i)

Financial
Assets at
Fair Value
through Other
Comprehensive
Income
$

$

$

$
5,023,658

978,407
253,026

978,407
253,026

1,000,000

1,000,000
4,244,979
11,500,070

7,255,091

4,244,979
4,244,979

-

-

Financial
Assets at
Amortised
Cost

Financial Liabilities
Payables
Total Financial Liabilities (i)

Total

5,023,658

Financial Liabilities
Payables
Total Financial Liabilities (i)

2019
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Receivables
- Trade Debtors
- Other Receivables
Investments and Other
Financial Assets
- Term Deposits
- Managed Funds
Total Financial Assets (i)

Financial
Liabilities
at
Amortised
Cost

Financial
Assets at
Fair Value
through Other
Comprehensive
Income
$

$

696,701
696,701

696,701
696,701

Financial
Liabilities
at
Amortised
Cost

Total

$

$

4,186,356

4,186,356

714,279
148,478

714,279
148,478

1,500,000

1,500,000
4,188,477
10,737,590

6,549,113

4,188,477
4,188,477

-

-

794,141
794,141

794,141
794,141

(i) The carrying amount excludes statutory receivables (i.e. GST receivable and DHHS receivable) and
statutory payables (i.e. Revenue in Advance and DHHS payable).
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Risks, Contingencies and Valuation Uncertainties (continued)

Note 7.1 Financial Instruments (continued)
(a) Categorisation of Financial Instruments (continued)
From 1 July 2018, the Geelong Cemeteries Trust applies AASB 9 and classifies all of its financial assets
based on the business model for managing the assets and the asset's contractual terms.
Categories of financial assets under AASB 9
Financial assets at amortised cost are designated as such if both of the following criteria are met and
the assets are not designated as fair value through net result:
- the assets are held by the Trust to collect the contractual cash flows, and
- the assets' contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest.
These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. The
Trust includes cash and deposits, receivables (excluding statutory receivables) and term deposits in
this category.
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income includes the following:
Debt investments, which are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if both of the
following criteria are met and the assets are not designated as fair value through net result:
- the assets are held by the Trust to achieve its objective both by collecting the contractual cash flows
and by selling the financial assets, and
- the assets’ contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interests.
Equity investments are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if the assets are not
held for trading and the Trust has irrevocably elected at initial recognition to recognise in this category.
These assets are initially recognised at fair value with subsequent change in fair value in other
comprehensive income.
Upon disposal of these debt instruments, any related balance in the fair value reserve is reclassified to
profit or loss. However, upon disposal of these equity instruments, any related balance in fair value
reserve is reclassified to retained earnings.
The Trust recognises "Investments and Other Financial Assets" within this category.
Derecognition of financial assets : A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
asset have expired.
Categories of financial liabilities under AASB 9
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially recognised on the date they are originated. They are
initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, these financial instruments are measured at amortised cost with any difference between the
initial recognised amount and the redemption value being recognised in profit and loss over the period of
the interest bearing liability, using the effective interest rate method. The Trust recognises payables and
deposits held in this category.
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Risks, Contingencies and Valuation Uncertainties (continued)

Note 7.1 Financial Instruments (continued)
(a) Categorisation of Financial Instruments (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities: A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification
is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference
in the respective carrying amounts is recognised as an "other economic flow" in the comprehensive
operating statement.
(b) Maturity Analysis of Financial Liabilities
The following table discloses the contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities at the respective
reporting dates:

Note
2020
Financial Liabilities
Payables

5.3

Total Financial Liabilities
2019
Financial Liabilities
Payables

5.3

Total Financial Liabilities

Carrying
Amount
$

Nominal
Amount
$

Maturity Dates
Less than
1 month
$

696,701

696,701

696,701

696,701

696,701

696,701

794,141

794,141

794,141

794,141

794,141

794,141

Ageing analysis of financial liabilities excludes statutory financial liabilities (i.e. GST payable)
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Trust is unable to meet obligations associated with financial liabilities
when they fall due.
(i) Policy in Managing Liquidity Risk
The Trust's objectives in managing liquidity risk are to ensure that all obligations will be met as they fall
due, while ensuring maximum funds are available for investment to meet longer term perpetual
maintenance requirements.
The Trust manages liquidity risk by monitoring cash flows to ensure sufficient funds are maintained in
the transactional bank accounts to meet liabilities as they fall due. This is done while ensuring that
surplus funds are transferred for investment. Daily monitoring occurs, with monthly reports delivered to
management regarding the cash flow position and cash flow forecasts. The Trust believes that this
policy ensures sufficient funds are held to allow for the proper administration of the Trust.
The Trust has assessed this risk as minimal considering the positive current position of current assets.
(ii) Maximum Exposure to Liquidity Risk
The maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as shown in
Table 7.1 (b).
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Risks, Contingencies and Valuation Uncertainties (continued)

Note 7.1 Financial Instruments (continued)
(c) Contractual Receivables at Amortised Cost
The Geelong Cemeteries Trust applies the AASB 9 simplified approach for all contractual receivables to
measure expected credit losses using a lifetime expected loss allowance based on the assumptions
about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Trust has grouped contractual receivables on shared
credit risk characteristics and days past due and selected the expected credit loss rate based on the
Trust’s past history, existing market conditions, as well as forward‑looking estimates at the end of the
financial year.
On this basis, the Trust has determined that the expected credit loss as at 30 June 2020 is nil.
Note 7.2 Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities
Contingent Assets
There are no known contingent assets at 30 June 2020. (2019: $nil)
Contingent Liabilities
Perpetual Maintenance
The Trust has an obligation under the Cemeteries and Crematoria Act 2003 to manage and maintain
each public cemetery for which it is responsible. As stated in Section 12 of the Act, in exercising its
functions the Trust must have regard to its obligation in relation to the funding of the perpetual
maintenance of each public cemetery. At this time the Trust is aware that there will be ongoing
significant cash outflow for perpetual maintenance of each public cemetery but is unable to calculate
a sufficiently reliable estimate of any related present obligation which may arise under the accounting
standards and accordingly has not recognised a value for this obligation in these financial statements.
The Trust has nevertheless created a related reserve, disclosed as a Perpetual Maintenance Reserve
in the Equity section of the Balance Sheet.
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet, but are disclosed
by way of notes above and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value.
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Note 8

Other Disclosures

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or otherwise, for the
understanding of this financial report.
Note 8.1 Reconciliation of net result for the year to net cash
inflows from operating activities

2020
$
1,181,091

Operating result for the year
Non-Cash Flows in Operating Surplus
Depreciation
(Net Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Gifted Assets from Cemetery Trust Acquired

2019
$
149,333

742,932
( 70,689)
( 20,000)

724,521
( 50,495)
-

Changes in assets and liabilities
(Increase)/Decrease in Receivables
(Increase)/Decrease in Prepayments
(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories
Increase/(Decrease) in Payables (excluding Capital payables)
Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions
Increase/(Decrease) in Unearned Income
Increase/(Decrease) in Prepaid Income

( 368,676)
96,408
( 24,138)
35,491
66,615
283,761
255,074

106,473
( 86,488)
( 18,764)
119,570
102,882
380,890
88,595

Net cash flows from operating activities

2,177,869
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Other Disclosures (continued)

Note 8.2 Responsible Persons Disclosure
In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Assistant Treasurer under the Financial Management
Act 1994 , the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.
Responsible Ministers:
The Honourable Jenny Mikakos, Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services
The Honourable Martin Foley, Minister for Mental Health
The Honourable Luke Donnellan, Minister for Child Protection, Minister for Disability,
Ageing and Carers

Period
01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020
01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020
01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020

The following were Trust Members of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust during the reporting period:
Mr. L. J. SMITH OAM
Chairman
Mr. J. C. MITCHELL
Chairman
Mrs. S. M. CHISHOLM
Mr. P. G. MANSFIELD OAM
Mrs. A. E. BRACKLEY OAM
Ms. J. A. FAIRBAIRN
Mrs. B. I. RICHARDSON
Ms. M. ROGERS
Mr. R. NIEUWENHOF
Mr. G. M. CROUCH
Accountable Officer:

01/07/2019 - 31/10/2019
01/11/2019 - 30/06/2020
01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020
01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020
01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020
01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020
01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020
01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020
01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020
01/07/2019 - 30/06/2020

Mr. D. L. THOMAS OAM (Chief Executive Officer)

Remuneration of Responsible Persons
The number of Responsible Persons are shown in their relevant income bands:
2020
No.

2019
No.

$0 - 9,999
$10,000 - 19,999
$210,000 - 219,999
$220,000 - 229,999
$280,000 - 289,999
$290,000 - 299,999

10

8
1

Total Numbers

11

10

$

$

368,357

295,875

Income Band

1
1

Total remuneration received or due and receivable by
Responsible Persons from the reporting entity amounted to:

Amounts relating to Responsible Ministers are reported within the Department of Parliamentary Services'
Financial Report as disclosed in Note 8.4 Related Parties .
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Other Disclosures (continued)

Note 8.3 Remuneration of Executives
The number of executive officers, other than Ministers and Accountable Officers, and their total remuneration during
the reporting period are shown in the table below. Total annualised employee equivalent provides a measure of full
time equivalent executive officers over the reporting period.
Remuneration of Executive Officers
(including Key Management Personnel Disclosed
in Note 8.4)
Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits
Termination benefits
Share-based payments
Total Remuneration (i)

Total Remuneration
2020
2019
$
$
354,776
30,641
8,073
393,490

Total Number of Executive Officers
Total Annualised Employee Equivalents (AAE) (ii)

2
2

383,640
29,322
7,829
420,791
2
2

(i) The total number of executive officers includes persons who meet the definition of Key Management Personnel
(KMP) of the Trust under AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and are also reported within Note 8.4 Related
Parties .
(ii) Annualised employee equivalent is based on working 38 ordinary hours per week over the reporting period.
Total remuneration payable to executives during the year included a number of executives who received bonus
payments during the year. These bonus payments depend on the terms of individual employment contracts.
Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided in exchange for
services rendered, and is disclosed in the following categories:
Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages, annual leave or sick leave that are usually paid or payable on a regular basis, as well as
non-monetary benefits such as allowances and free or subsidised goods or services.
Post-employment Benefits
Pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a discrete basis when employment has ceased.
Other Long-term Benefits
Long service leave, other long-service benefit or deferred compensation.
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Note 8.4 Related Parties
The Trust is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria. Related parties of the Trust include:
- All key management personnel (KMP) and their close family members;
- All Cabinet Ministers and their close family members; and
- All Cemetery Trusts and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole
of state consolidated financial statements.
All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm's length basis.
KMP's are those people with the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of
the Trust, directly or indirectly.
Key management personnel (KMP) of the Trust include the Portfolio Ministers and Cabinet Ministers and KMP
as determined by the Trust. These include the Responsible Persons listed in Note 8.2 (Trust Members and
Accountable Officer - CEO) together with the Deputy CEO/Operations Manager (Mr. F. de Groot) and the
Manager Finance and Administration (Mr. T. J. Colbert). The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries
and benefits the Portfolio Ministers receive. The Minister's remuneration and allowances is set by the
Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 1968 , and is reported within the Department of Parliamentary
Services' Financial Report.
Compensation - KMP's

2020
$

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits
Total (i)

694,266
54,884
12,697
761,847

2019
$
652,404
52,150
12,112
716,666

(i) KMP's are also reported in Note 8.2 Responsible Persons and Note 8.3 Remuneration of Executives.
Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Trust, there were no related party transactions that involved
key management personnel, their close family members and their personal business interests. No provision has
been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties. There were no
related party transactions with Cabinet Ministers required to be disclosed in 2020.
Significant transactions with government-related entities
Given the breadth and depth of State Government activities, related parties transact with the Victorian public sector
in a manner consistent with other members of the public e.g. stamp duty and other government fees and charges.
Further employment of processes within the Victorian public sector occur on terms and conditions consistent with
the Public Administration Act 2004 and Codes of Conduct and Standards issued by the Victorian Public Sector
Commission. Procurement processes occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Victorian Government
Procurement Board requirements.
The Trust received Grants of $196,930 from the Department of Health and Human Services for the current reporting
period (2019 - Nil).
The Trust also paid the Cemetery Levy to the Department of Health and Human Services, being $241,999 for the
current reporting period and $202,048 for the previous reporting period. (Details are provided in Note 3.1 (b)).
Insurance products purchased from the Victorian Managed Insurance Association in the current reporting period
were to the value of $31,079 (2019 - $24,714).
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Other Disclosures (continued)

Note 8.5 Remuneration of Auditors
Victorian Auditor-General's Office
Audit of financial statement

Other Providers
Internal Audit

2020
$

2019
$

15,300

14,900

15,300

14,900

7,700

10,500

7,700

10,500

Note 8.6 Ex-Gratia Expenses
The Trust has not made any ex-gratia payments during the current reporting period or previous reporting period.
The Trust also has not written off any amounts during the current reporting period or previous reporting period.
Note 8.7 AASB's Issued that are not yet Effective
Certain new Australian accounting standards have been published that are not mandatory for the 30
June 2020 reporting period. Department of Treasury and Finance assesses the impact of all these new
standards and advises the Trust of their applicability and early adoption where applicable.
As at 30 June 2020, the following standards and interpretations had been issued by the AASB but
were not yet effective. They become effective for the first financial statements for reporting periods
commencing after the stated operative dates as detailed in the table below. The Trust has not and
does not intend to adopt these standards early.
Standard /
Interpretation

AASB 2018-7
Amendments
to Australian
Accounting
Standards Definition of
Material

Summary

Applicable for Impact on Trust's Financial
reporting
Statements
periods
beginning on
This Standard principally amends
1 Jan 2020 The Standard is not expected to
AASB 101 Presentation of Financial
have a significant impact on the
public sector.
Statements and AASB 108
Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors .
The amendments refine and clarify
the definition of material in AASB
101 and its application by improving
the wording and aligning the
definition across AASB Standards
and other publications. The
amendments also include some
supporting requirements in AASB
101 in the definition to give it more
prominence and clarify the
explanation accompanying the
definition of material.
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Note 8

Other Disclosures (continued)

Note 8.7 AASB's Issued that are not yet Effective (continued)
Standard /
Interpretation

Applicable for
reporting
periods
beginning on
AASB 2020-1 This Standard amends AASB 101 to 1 Jan 2022
Amendments clarify requirements for the
However, ED
301 has been
presentation of liabilities in the
to Australian
issued with the
statement of financial position as
Accounting
intention to
current or non-current. A liability is
Standards defer
Classification classified as non-current if an entity
application to
of Liabilities as has the right at the end of the
1 January
Current or Non- reporting period to defer settlement
2023.
of the liability for at least 12 months
Current
after the reporting period. The
meaning of settlement of a liability is
also clarified.
Summary

Impact on Trust's Financial
Statements

This standard is not expected to
have a significant impact on the
public sector.

In addition to the new standards and amendments above, the AASB has issued a list of other amending standards
that are not effective for the 2019-20 reporting period (as listed below). In general, these amending standards
include editorial and references changes that are expected to have insignificant impacts on public sector reporting.
- AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Definition of a Business
- AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - References to the Conceptual Framework
- AASB 2019-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosure of the Effect of New IFRS
Standards Not Yet Issued in Australia.
- AASB 1060 General Purpose Financial Statements - Simplified Disclosures for For-Profit and Not-for-Profit
Tier 2 Entities (Appendix C).

Note 8.8 Events Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date
Trust Investments - Volatility of World Financial Markets
Since the reporting date, world financial markets have shown volatility that has affected the carrying value
of the Trust’s investment portfolio. The Trust continues to maintain a conservative investment strategy to
manage our exposure to this volatility.
Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic
The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing and while it has relatively minimal impact
financially for the Trust up to 30 June 2020, it is not practicable to estimate the potential impact, positive
or negative, after the reporting date. The situation is rapidly developing and is dependent on measures
imposed by the Australian Government and other countries, such as maintaining social distancing
requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic stimulus that may be provided.
No other matter or circumstances has arisen since 30 June 2020 that has significantly affected, or may
significantly affect the Trust's operations, the results of those operations, or the Trust's state of affairs in
future financial years.
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Note 8.9 Changes in Accounting Policy
Revenue from Contracts with Customers
In accordance with FRD 121 requirements, the Geelong Cemeteries Trust has applied the transitional
provision of AASB 15, under modified retrospective method with the cumulative effect of initially applying
this standard against the opening retained earnings at 1 July 2019. Under this transition method,
Geelong Cemeteries Trust applied this standard retrospectively only to contracts that are not completed
contracts at the date of initial application.
Comparative information has not been restated.
The adoption of AASB 15 did not have an impact on Other comprehensive income and the Statement of
Cash Flows for the financial year.
Income of Not-for-Profit Entities
In accordance with FRD 122 requirements, the Geelong Cemeteries Trust has applied the transitional
provision of AASB 1058, under modified retrospective method with the cumulative effect of initially
applying this standard against the opening retained earnings at 1 July 2019. Under this transition method,
Geelong Cemeteries Trust applied this standard retrospectively only to contracts and transactions that
are not completed contracts at the date of initial application.
Comparative information has not been restated.
The adoption of AASB 1058 did not have an impact on Other comprehensive income and the Statement
of Cash Flows for the financial year.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Trust Members of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust
Opinion

I have audited the financial report of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust (the cemetery) which comprises
the:
•
•
•
•
•
•

balance sheet as at 30 June 2020
comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended
statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
cash flow statement for the year then ended
notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies
trust member's, accountable officer's and chief finance & accounting officer's declaration.

In my opinion the financial report is in accordance with Part 7 of the Financial Management Act 1994
and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including:
•
•

Basis for
Opinion

presenting fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the cemetery as at 30 June
2020 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended
complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Division 60 of the Australian Charities
and Not-for-profits Commission Regulations 2013.

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the Australian
Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and those standards in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of my report.
My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are independent of the
cemetery in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Australian Charities and
Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and
Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are
relevant to my audit of the financial report in Australia. My staff and I have also fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
my opinion.

Trust Members'
responsibilities
for the financial
report

The Trust Members of the cemetery are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Financial Management Act
1994 and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, and for such internal
control as the Trust Members determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation
of a financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the Trust Members are responsible for assessing the cemetery’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so.

Other
Information

My opinion on the financial report does not cover the Other Information and accordingly, I do not
express any form of assurance conclusion on the Other Information. However, in connection with my
audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the Other Information and in doing so,
consider whether it is materially inconsistent with the financial report or the knowledge I obtained
during the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work I have
performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the Other Information, I am required to
report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard.
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Auditor’s
responsibilities
for the audit of
the financial
report

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report
based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:
•

•

•
•

•

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.
obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the cemetery’s internal control
evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Trust Members
conclude on the appropriateness of the Trust Members' use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the cemetery’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to
draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the cemetery to cease to continue as a going concern.
evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with the Trust Members regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that I identify during my audit.
I also provide the Trust Members with a statement that I have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

MELBOURNE
17 August 2020

Travis Derricott
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria
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Caring for our Communities
The Gatehouse, Geelong Eastern Cemetery
141 Ormond Rd, Geelong East, VIC 3219
Ph. (03) 5249 3939 I Fax. (03) 5221 7031
Email. info@gct.net.au I Website. www.gct.net.au

CEMETERIES OF THE TRUST
• Geelong Eastern
• Geelong Western
• Barrabool Hills, Highton
• Grovedale
• Mount Duneed
• Mount Moriac

• Geelong Memorial
Park & Crematorium,
Armstrong Creek
• Winchelsea
• Lorne
• Colac

• Whoorel,
Birregurra
• Warncoort
• Beeac
• Flinders Memorial
Park, Lara

• Leopold
• Drysdale
• Queenscliff,
Point Lonsdale
• Portarlington
• Gisborne

